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GENERAL: 
1. The Annual General Meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Electronic Attendance at Credit 
 Union Meetings (COVID-19) Order of the Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General (Ministerial Order   
 No.  M138) and, to the extent not inconsistent therewith, the Credit Union Incorporation Act, the Rules of  
 Kootenay Savings Credit Union (KSCU), and the current edition Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised. 

2.  The meeting shall be held solely by such electronic means as are made available by KSCU. 

3.  No person may photograph, record or �lm the proceedings of the meeting by use of any camera or other  
 electronic device, without the permission of the Chair or the consent of the meeting. 

4.  Except for motions that �t within the jurisdiction of the AGM, motions from the �oor are generally   
 considered advisory to the Board. To be considered, such motions must �rst be presented to the Chair in   
 writing. 

DEBATE: 
5. Only members in good standing, as de�ned in the Rules of KSCU, are entitled to speak to matters brought  
 before the meeting for consideration. 

6.  Members wishing to ask a question must indicate their desire to do so using the virtual meeting chat 
     feature. Members joining the meeting by phone-only will be given the opportunity to verbally ask a   
     question. 

7.  Members wishing to verbally address the Chair must indicate so in the virtual meeting chat, and must be  
 recognized before speaking. Upon recognition by the Chair, the speaker will state clearly his or her name. 

8.  No member may speak longer that two minutes at a time or more than twice on the same question   
 without permission from the Chair. 

9.  A member who wishes to speak a second time on the same issue or ask more than one follow up question  
 at a time must wait until other members who wish to speak on the issue for the �rst have spoken. 

10.  All other speakers must obtain the permission of the Chair and may speak once and then only provide   
    information. 

VOTING:
11 .  Only members in good standing, as de�ned in the Rules of KSCU, are entitled to vote at the AGM.

12.  Voting will be conducted by show of hands or such other electronic means as may be determined by the  
    Chair. No vote by proxy shall be recognized or allowed. 

13.  After a vote at a meeting is taken, a declaration of the Chair that a motion or resolution has been carried  
    by the majority shall be conclusive. An audit of all electronic votes cast will be conducted at the  
        conclusion of the meeting to ensure all voters are members in good standing.

REPORTS: 
14.  Reports presented at the meeting for information only do not require a motion. 

15.  Where a report contains a recommendation for the AGM to consider, a motion 
        to act on the recommendation will be presented, seconded, debated and voted on.  
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Rules 

  

           Kootenay Savings Credit Union (the "Credit Union") is a community credit union established 
to provide services to its Members, without regard to religious or political belief, language, 
sex, or racial, ethnic or occupational character or other basis of discrimination. 

 

 
2.1  These rules are subject to the Credit Union Incorporation Act, the Financial Institutions   
        Act, and the regulations made under those Acts, all of which are called the "Act", and     
         shall be interpreted and take effect accordingly;  
 

2.2  Except as otherwise provided, words defined in the Act have the meanings there  
        provided; and the rules of interpretation applicable to the Act apply to these Rules; 
 

2.3  In these Rules: 
(a) "Application" means an application in writing in a form prescribed by the Board; 
(b) “Auxiliary Member" means a person who Owns Additional Participation Shares 
         but is not a Member; 
(c) "Board" means the board of directors of the Credit Union; 
(d) "Defaulting Member" means a Member who is, and has been for a period of not   
        less than 90 days, in default under any obligation to the Credit Union, or whose  
        obligation has within the previous 7 years been written off by the Credit Union,    
        in either case whether as principal debtor, covenantor, guarantor, or indemnitor; 
(e) "Junior Member" means a Member who is under the age of 19 years; 
(f) "Member" means a person, firm, or corporation who complies with Rule 3.0; 
(g) "Member in Good Standing" means a Voting Member who is not a Defaulting     
        Member; 
(h) "Membership Shares" means Class "A" shares in the Credit Union; 
(i) "Minimum Shares" means 25 Membership Shares, except for Junior Members,  
       when it means 5 Membership Shares; 
(j) "Ordinary Member" means a Member who is a human person and specifically  
        excludes a Member who is: 

i. other than the first named Member on a joint account; or, 
ii. a trustee, whether or not a lawyer, notary public or accountant; or, 

iii. a governmental authority, whether federal, provincial, regional, or 
municipal, or other public body; or,  

iv. a federal or provincial corporation, society, co-operative, or other 
association, or a credit union, bank, or trust company. 

The Board may, generally or specifically, waive any such exclusion in respect of any 
Member.  No Member shall be an Ordinary Member more than once, whether or not 

1.0 PURPOSE 

2.0 INTERPRETATION 
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such Member shall have qualified to be a Member more than once pursuant to the 
provisions of Rule 3.0; 

 (k)  "Owns", "Owned", and "Owning" means beneficially owns, owned, and owning; 
 (l)    "Voting Member" means a Member who Owns 25 Membership Shares; 
 (m)  Every power of the Board to appoint, delegate, determine, prescribe, or set,  
                              includes a power from time to time to rescind, replace or vary the  
                              appointment, delegation, determination, prescription, or setting; 
 (n)   Words importing the singular number include the plural, and vice versa,  
                             whenever the context so requires. 

 

        A person, firm, or corporation shall only become a Member on: 
 (a)   Owning Minimum Shares; and, 
 (b)   approval by the Board of a written application for membership; and 
 (c)   payment of an annual membership fee as determined from time to time by the  
           Board. 

 

4.1  There shall be four classes of shares, namely, Classes "A", "B", "C", and "D"; 
 

4.2  Shares shall be subject to the following special rights and restrictions: 
    (a)   no shares shall be transferrable or assignable; 
  (b)   only Class "A", "B", and "C" Shares (all of which are called "Participation Shares")      
                                 shall be equity shares, and money invested in equity shares is not           
                                 guaranteed by the Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation; 
 

4.3  On the winding up of the Credit Union, its obligations shall be paid in accordance with   
        the Act, and any surplus shall be paid proportionately to Members and Auxiliary  
         Members holding Participation Shares; 
 

4.4  The Board may set record dates and terms and conditions for entitlement to dividends,  
        and, subject to the Act and these Rules, may declare: 

              (a)   a dividend on one class of shares in preference to another class of shares; and, 
              (b)   different rates of dividend for each class of shares; 
 

4.5  Class "D" Shares ("Old Shares") are those shares issued prior to the initial creation of   
        Participation Shares; 
 

4.6  All shares shall have a par value of $1.00. 
 

 
5.1  Each member shall own not more than 1,000, nor less than 25 Membership Shares,   

except for Junior Members, who shall own not more than 1,000, nor less than 5 
Membership Shares; 

3.0 MEMBERSHIP 

4.0 CLASSES OF SHARES 

5.0 MEMBERSHIP SHARES 
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5.2  Membership Shares may be purchased: 
   (a)   for cash; or, 
   (b)   by tendering Old Shares, share for share, for Membership Shares; 

 

5.3  Membership Shares may be redeemed or repurchased by the Credit Union on the  
        Application of the Member Owning such shares at any time; 
 

5.4  A Member who shall cease to Own Minimum Shares shall forthwith cease to be a   
       Member. 

 

6.1  The Board may from time to time set the maximum number of Class "B" and "C" Shares  
(together called "Additional Participation Shares") which any Member or Auxiliary 
Member may Own.  Subject thereto, a Member or Auxiliary Member may own an 
unlimited number of Additional Participation Shares; 

 

6.2  Subject to the Act and to the provisions of Rule 6.3, all dividends and all patronage 
        refunds shall be paid by issuing Additional Participation Shares; 
 

6.3  In accordance with the Act, shares must be issued as fully paid, and if a Member or   
Auxiliary Member is entitled either to dividends or patronage refunds in an amount 
which is not at least $1.00, those dividends or patronage refunds will not be paid, and, if 
either of them exceeds $1.00 but is not an exact multiple of $1.00, the excess entitlement 
will: 
   (a)   if it is $0.49 or less, not be paid; or, 
   (b)   if it is $0.50 or more, be paid as if the excess entitlement were $1.00; 

 

6.4  Subject to the Act, Additional Participation Shares may be redeemed or repurchased by   
       the Credit Union on the Application of the Member or Auxiliary Member Owning such   
        shares on such terms and conditions as the Board may from time to time determine. 
        Without limitation, the Board may: 

   (a) determine: 
(i)       the maximum number of Applications; and, 
(ii) the minimum and maximum amount of each Application; in each case, 

which a Member or Auxiliary Member may make in any financial year 
of the Credit Union; and, 

(iii) the maximum aggregate amount of redemptions and re-purchases by 
the Credit Union within any financial year of the Credit Union; and, 

     (iv) the period of time within any financial year of the Credit Union during 
which any such application may be made; and, 

   (b) generally and specifically, waive or increase determinations and make different 
determinations from time to time in respect of any such Applications by a Member 
or Auxiliary Member or the legal and personal representative of a deceased 
Member or Auxiliary Member. 

 
 

6.0  ADDITIONAL PARTICIPATION SHARES 
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7.1  A Member or Auxiliary Member may Own an unlimited number of Old Shares; 
 

7.2  Old Shares may be redeemed or repurchased by the Credit Union on the application of   
        the Member or Auxiliary Member Owning such shares at any time. 

 

 
8.1  The Board shall set aside from the earnings of the Credit Union adequate reserves for    
        losses on loans and investments and such contingency and other reserves as are    
         required by the Act or are deemed by the Board to be advisable and shall hold the same   
         as general equity for the protection of all Members and Auxiliary Members; 
 

8.2  The Board may set a record date for entitlement and declare payable to Members and   
        Auxiliary Members by way of patronage refunds any earnings remaining after setting   
         aside reserves pursuant to Rule 8.1 and reserves for dividends pursuant to Rule 4.4; 
 

8.3  Patronage refunds shall be based on interest paid to the Credit Union by a Member or 
        Auxiliary Member, and interest paid to a Member or Auxiliary Member by the Credit  
        Union, and the use by the Member or Auxiliary Member of services of the Credit Union; 
 

8.4  The Board may declare a different rate of patronage refund on: 
   (a)   different types of deposits; and, 
   (b)   different types of loans; and, 
   (c)   the use of different types of services of the Credit Union. 

 

8.5  All allocations and payments of patronage refunds shall be made in accordance with  
 the laws relating to taxation of income. 
 

 
9.1  For the purposes of these Rules, there shall be the following regions, each called a   
       “Representative Region”: 

    (a)   Area “A” Representative Region; 
    (b)   Area “B” Representative Region; 
    (c)   Area “C” Representative Region; 
    (d)   Area “D” Representative Region. 

 

9.2  The directors may by resolution establish and, from time to time, alter the boundaries of   
        a Representative Region, but no such alteration shall affect the term of a director then 
        serving. 
 

7.0  OLD SHARES 
 

8.0  PATRONAGE REFUNDS 
 

9.0  REPRESENTATIVE REGIONS AND DIRECTORS 
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9.3  (a)  “Regional Director” means a director elected or appointed to represent a   
Representative Region. 

 (b)  “At-Large Director” means an elected or appointed director who is not a  
 Regional Director. 

 

9.4  In order to be elected or appointed as a Regional Director, a person must have his or   
 her principle residence within the Representative Region that he or she is to represent.  
    9.4.1 Whenever it is necessary to determine whether a person has his or her principal 

residence in a Representative Region, the Nominating Committee shall make that 
determination, which determination shall be final and conclusive. 

 

9.5  If a Regional Director changes his or her residence, that Director shall not, for that  
       reason only, be disqualified from serving the balance of his or her term. 
 

9.6  Subject to Rule 9.7, there shall be ten Directors of the Credit Union consisting of one  
        Regional Director for each Representative Region, and six At-Large Directors. 
 

9.7   (a) Notwithstanding Rule 10.1.1(e), whenever the Credit Union enters into an 
agreement to purchase all or substantially all of the assets of another credit union, 
in accordance with the Credit Union Incorporation Act, the directors may appoint, 
as additional directors, persons who were directors of the transferring credit union 
at the date of transfer, and designate their terms of office, but the total number of 
directors of the Credit Union following such appointments shall not exceed fifteen. 

   (b) Where the term of office of a director appointed pursuant to Rule 9.7(a) has 
expired, or where the position becomes vacant prior to the expiration of the term 
of office, no vacancy shall exist. 

 

9.8  The Board shall meet at least once in every three months and at least ten times in every  
        year; 
 

9.9  The Chairperson may at any time, and shall within 14 days of a written request to do so 
        signed by any three directors, call a meeting of the Board; 
 

9.10  One clear day's notice shall be given of meetings of the Board by personal delivery,   
          mail, telegraph, telex, facsimile transmission, or telephone, but notice may be waived  
           by a director who does not receive notice; 
 

9.11  A majority of the Board shall be a quorum, but a lesser number may adjourn from time  
          to time until a quorum is obtained; 
 

9.12  A majority of votes of the directors present shall decide all questions at meetings of   
        the Board.  In an equality of votes, the Chairperson of the meeting when the vote is   
      taken shall have a further casting vote; 
 

9.13  The Board may appoint an eligible person to fill any vacancy which occurs on the  
          Board; 
 

9.14  A director appointed by the Board to fill a vacancy shall hold office until the close of  
          the next Annual General Meeting; 
 

9.15  Retiring directors cease to hold office, and newly elected directors take office, at the  
          close of each Annual General Meeting; 
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9.16  Subject to the Act, the Credit Union shall indemnify: 
 (a)   each director and officer of the Credit Union; and, 
 (b)   each former director and officer of the Credit Union; and, 

  (c)   each person who acts or who has acted at the request of the Credit Union as a  
director or officer of a corporation of which the Credit Union is or was a 
member or creditor; against all costs, charges and expenses, including an 
amount paid to settle any action or satisfy any judgement, reasonably incurred 
by the director or officer or person for any civil, criminal, or administrative 
action or proceeding to which the director or officer or person is made a party 
by reason of being or having been a director or officer of the Credit Union or 
corporation, if the director or officer of the Credit Union or corporation acted 
honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Credit Union 
and, in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is 
enforced by a monetary penalty, the director or officer of the Credit Union or 
corporation had reasonable grounds for believing that the conduct was lawful; 
and, if the director or officer is required to include in income or in the income of 
that individual's estate, any payment made under this indemnification for the 
purposes of determining income tax payable by the director or officer, the 
Credit Union shall pay an amount by way of indemnity that will fully indemnify 
for the amount of all liabilities herein described and all income tax payables as a 
result of the receipt of the indemnity payment.   

 

 
10.1  Subject to Rules 9.4 and 9.7 every Member in Good Standing, except a Junior Member  
          or a member disqualified under Rule 10.1.1, who has been a member of the Credit   
           Union for at least one year prior to the close of nominations, is eligible to be  
           nominated for election as a director of the Credit Union. 
 

10.1.1 A person who is: 
(a) a person prohibited by the Act; or 
(b) an employee of the Credit Union or any of its subsidiaries, or of any 

corporation in which the Credit Union is a shareholder; or 
(c) a person who, in the preceding three years, was an employee of the Credit 

Union or any of its subsidiaries, or of any corporation in which the Credit 
Union is a shareholder; or  

(d) a spouse, mother, father, son, daughter, sister, brother, foster child, stepchild, 
mother-in-law, father-in-law, stepparent, grandparent or grandchild of a 
person referred to in paragraphs (b), (c), and (e) of this Rule 10.1.1, or of a 
director of the Credit Union; or 

(e) a director, officer, or employee of a bank, trust company, savings and loan 
association, or credit union other than a central credit union, or any other 
institution or business that is engaged in activities similar to the activities in 
which the Credit Union is engaged in the normal course of business: 

                       is not eligible to be nominated for election or to hold office as a director of the 

10.0 ELIGIBILITY TO BE A DIRECTOR 
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                                         Credit Union and, if holding office as a director of the Credit Union, shall         
                                         vacate office forthwith. 

 

10.2  If otherwise eligible under Rule 10.1, a retiring director of the Credit Union is eligible  
           for re-election; 
 

10.3  Every nominee for election or appointment as a director shall file with the Nominating  
           Committee, if for election, or with the Board, if for appointment, in forms prescribed by  
           the Board: 

(a) a declaration of the Representative Region in which the nominee is principally 
resident; and, 

(b) a declaration as to eligibility to be a director; and, 
(c) a statement of all known conflicts of interest between the nominee and the 

Credit Union.  The declaration and statement shall not excuse the nominee, if 
elected or appointed, from compliance with the Act. 

 

 
11.1  At each Annual General Meeting, directors shall be declared elected to replace those  
          retiring and to fill any vacancies; 
 

11.2  Except on an election to fill the unexpired portion of a term, directors shall hold office  
          for three years; 
 

11.3  At least 90 days before each Annual General Meeting, the Board shall appoint a    
Nominating Committee of at least three adult Members in Good Standing, who may  
be directors, except a director whose term of office expires at that Annual General  
Meeting and who is standing for re-election, shall notify all Members that an election  
is to take place, invite nominations from the Membership at large of qualified  
Members willing to stand for election, nomination forms for which will be available at  
any branch of the Credit Union, and that each Member is entitled to make a  
written request, not less than 30 days before the date of the General Meeting, for a  
ballot which may be cast by mail instead of being cast at any branch of the Credit  
Union; 

 

11.4  The Nominating Committee shall place in nomination the names of: 
 (a)  at least as many eligible candidates as there are vacancies to be filled;  
                   and, 
 (b)  any other eligible candidates who have been nominated by three  
                    Members in Good Standing;  

 

11.5  Except for the Nominating Committee, no Member may nominate more than one  
          person at any election; 
 

11.6  The Nominating Committee shall forthwith, after receipt, examine all nomination  
          forms submitted, determine which candidates are qualified and advise all candidates 
           deemed to be disqualified with reasons for such determination, and, in any event,  
           close nominations not less than 30 days after the Members have received notice   
           under Rule 11.3; 
 

11.0 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 
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11.7 The Nominating Committee may recommend one or more of the nominees, whether  
    or not nominated by it, and may communicate its recommendation in such manner as  
    it thinks fit; 
 

11.8   If the number of qualified persons nominated for the offices for which the election is    
  to be held is less than or equal to the number of offices to be filled, the persons so  
   nominated shall be declared elected by acclamation by the Chairperson of the  
   Annual General Meeting, provided that, if there is only one person nominated who is  
   qualified to fill an office of a Regional Director, that person shall be declared to be  
   elected by the Chairperson of the Annual General Meeting. 

 

11.9  Subject to Rule 11.9.1, where any offices for directors being filled are for different    
                   length of terms, the term of each person shall be determined in proportion to the  
                   number of votes he or she receives, the person receiving the greatest number of  
                   votes to hold office for the longest term.  If there are two or more persons having an 
                   equal number of votes, their election or term of office as the case may be, shall be  

 determined by the Chairperson.  If there is an election by acclamation, the 
 Chairperson shall determine the respective terms of the candidates elected. 

11.9.1 If an office of a Regional Director is to be filled in an election, the qualified   
              person who receives the most votes shall be elected to that office. 

 

11.10 No Member shall campaign, nor permit any other person to campaign for any    
        candidate, for election as a director: 

(a) except after the closing of nominations, and then only in accordance with  
any guidelines prescribed by the Nominating Committee by that date; nor, 

(b) in any of the premises of the Credit Union or a subsidiary of the Credit Union,  
in any property where any such premises are situated, or within 100 yards of 
any such premises or property. 

 

 
12.1 Within 30 days after each Annual General Meeting, the Board shall meet and shall 

elect from its own number a Chairperson of the Board, a First Vice Chairperson and a 
Second Vice Chairperson.  It may then, or later, appoint other officers from its own 
number or otherwise as it considers appropriate; 

 

12.2 If the office of the Chairperson becomes vacant, the First Vice Chairperson becomes 
the Chairperson, and the Second Vice Chairperson becomes the First Vice 
Chairperson, and the Board shall appoint from its number a new Second Vice 
Chairperson; 

 

12.3   If the Chairperson is absent or unable to act, the First Vice Chairperson shall act as the  
           Chairperson, and if both the Chairperson and the First Vice Chairperson are absent or  
            unable to act, the Second Vice Chairperson shall act as the Chairperson; 
 

12.4  The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the Board; 
 

12.5  The Chairperson shall preside at all General Meetings; 
 

12.6  The Chairperson shall determine any matter in respect of any voting at, and the 

12.0 CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD 
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           conduct of, any General Meeting not governed by the Act, these Rules, or any Board  
            determination, and such determination shall be final. 

 
 

 

  The Board shall appoint one person as the Chief Executive Officer on such terms and 
with such powers, including the power to make loans, as it may determine. 

 

 
14.1   The Board may raise and borrow money for the purposes of the Credit Union; 
 

14.2   The Board shall set the terms and conditions of loans as to interest and other charges,  
           term, repayment, and security, and may delegate that power. 

 

 
15.1  Only Members, persons authorized pursuant to Rule 16.4, the Superintendent, the 

auditor of the Credit Union, and guests of the Board are entitled to attend General 
Meetings.  To determine entitlement to attend and to vote, the Credit Union may 
require persons to provide reasonable evidence of identity, membership and age.  
Unless the Chairperson otherwise directs, persons not entitled to attend a General 
Meeting shall be excluded; 

 

15.2  Subject to Rules 12.6 and 16.5, a General Meeting may adopt rules of order for its 
conduct and, if no rules are adopted, the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order 
Newly Revised apply; 

 

15.3  At a General Meeting, 50 Voting Members constitute a quorum, but a smaller number 
          may adjourn from time to time until a quorum is obtained; 

 

15.4  The Annual General Meeting of the Credit Union shall be held on a date set by the  
          Board; 

 

15.5  So far as is practical, the order of business at an Annual General Meeting shall be: 

(a) approval of the minutes of the last Annual Meeting; 
(b) business arising out of the minutes; 
(c) report of the Board; 
(d) report of the Chief Executive Officer; 
(e) report of the auditor; 
(f) approval of the financial statements; 
(g) reports of committees; 
(h) appointment of the auditor; 
(i) unfinished business; 
(j) new business; 

13.0 MANAGEMENT 
 

14.0 BORROWING AND LENDING 
 

15.0 GENERAL MEETINGS 
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(k) declaration of the election results; 
(l) good and welfare; and,  
(m) adjournment; 

 

15.6  A Special General Meeting may be called by the Board at any time.  Subject to the Act, 
the Board shall call a Special General Meeting upon a requisition signed by at least 300 
Members in Good Standing and delivered to the registered office of the Credit Union 
at least 90 days before the anniversary date of the last Annual General Meeting and at 
least 90 days before the date upon which it is proposed that the Special General 
Meeting be held; 

 

15.7  Only a Special Resolution proposed by the Board, or signed by at least 300 Members in 
Good Standing and delivered to the registered office of the Credit Union at least 90 
days before a General Meeting, may be proposed and voted upon pursuant to Rule 
16.5; 

 

15.8  Only an ordinary resolution proposed by the Board, or signed by at least five Members 
in Good Standing and delivered to the registered office of the Credit Union at least 
seven clear days before a General Meeting and determined by the Chairperson to be 
presented to that General Meeting, may be proposed and voted upon at a General 
Meeting; 

 

15.9  If the Chairperson determines that an ordinary resolution is not to be presented at a 
General Meeting, it shall be presented to the Members to vote thereon in such manner 
as the Board shall determine and, in default of other determination, at the next Annual 
General Meeting. 

 

 
16.1  Each Member, except a Junior Member, who is a Member in Good Standing on the 

date determined pursuant to Rule 16.5, is entitled to one vote in an election of 
directors and on any resolution that is or could be passed at a General Meeting.  If each 
of two or more persons under one account Own Minimum Shares, the first two persons 
named on the account are deemed to be Voting Members and are the only persons 
entitled to vote in respect of those Minimum Shares; 

 

16.2  Except for special resolutions, which shall be passed by the majority of votes set by the   
          Act, all questions to be decided by a vote of the Members shall be decided by a   
           majority of the votes cast.  In an equality of votes, the Chairperson of a General    
           Meeting at which a ballot is taken, or the Chairperson of a meeting of the Board   
           receiving a report of a vote in any other method, shall have a further casting vote; 

 

16.3  No Member, except the Chairperson under Rule 16.2, even if entitled in more than one  
capacity, shall cast more than one vote on a resolution; 

 

16.4  No Member may vote by proxy, but a Member who is not a human person may vote   
by a human person who is not a Member by written authorization deposited at the 
registered office of the Credit Union; 

 

16.0 VOTING BY MEMBERS 
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16.5  The Nominating Committee shall determine a record date for entitlement to vote in an 
election of directors and a special resolution.  A Member so entitled shall vote in an 
election of directors and on special resolutions by: 

(a) ballot at any branch of the Credit Union during regular business hours on  
    such day or days as shall be designated by the Board;  

(b) mail ballot upon receipt of a Member's request pursuant to Rule 11.3;   
  in either case at any time up to 15 clear days before the date of the  
  General Meeting.  The form of the ballot shall be determined by the  
  Board, provided that, where a Member requests a mail ballot, the Credit  
  Union shall provide: 

(i) a ballot which lists the names of all nominees in alphabetical 
order; and, 

(ii) a ballot envelope to ensure confidentiality; and, 
(iii) a ballot authentication envelope with designated spaces for  

the name, address, branch, membership number, and 
signature of the Member; and, 

(iv) a mailing envelope addressed to the registered office of the 
Credit Union; and, 

(v) clear instructions for completion of the ballot and for its return, 
specifying the last day upon which the ballot must be received 
by the Credit Union in order to be counted.  Notice of the 
detailed procedures to be followed in voting in person at a 
branch shall be posted in each branch of the Credit Union; or 

(c) electronic means; 
 

16.6    The provisions of this Rule shall apply, with the necessary changes of detail, to a 
meeting of the holders of a class of Additional Participation Shares. 

 

 

17.1    A statutory declaration by a director or officer of the Credit Union, authorized to make 
it, that a lien of the Credit Union has been exercised or that a share has been forfeited 
on a stated date, shall be conclusive evidence of that fact; 

 

17.2    A statutory declaration of a director or officer of the Credit Union, authorized to make 
it, in respect of the calling of, conduct at, and minutes of, any meeting of the Credit 
Union or the Board, or the exercise by the Board, any committee of the Board, or any 
officer of the Credit Union, of any power granted by or pursuant to the Act or these 
Rules, shall be sufficient evidence thereof, unless the contrary is proved; 

 

17.3    The Board may delegate the exercise of any of its powers to an officer of the Credit 
Union, or a committee comprising directors, or officers, or a combination of directors 
and officers, in each case upon such terms as it may determine. 

 
 
 

Rules amendments approved by membership by way of a special resolution, April 2019. 
Approved by the Superintendent of Financial Institutions, June 13, 2019. 

17.0 MISCELLANEOUS 
 



 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS KSCU 53rd  AGM Condensed Minutes 

 

May 9 2022 
 
 

KOOTENAY SAVINGS CREDIT UNION 53RD ANNUAL GENERAL  
VIRTUAL MEETING HELD MAY 9 2022 VIA WEBEX EVENT 

 
Moderator:  David Gouthro greeted Members and Guests and provided an overview of  
  protocols for the virtual meeting. 
 
Call to Order:  Forrest Drinnan, Chair of the Board, called the meeting to order,   
  acknowledging the first people on who’s land we are privileged to live, work  
  and play, @ 6:00 pm, with a quorum present. 
 
Attendance: 74 Voting Members 
 14 Non-Member Guests 
    88 Total Attendance 
 
Minutes: The minutes of the 53rd  AGM were approved by the Board of 
 Directors on May 26, 2022.  A condensed version of the minutes was 
 provided in the AGM meeting package. 
 
Rules of Order: Forrest Drinnan advised that the meeting would be governed by the  
 Credit Union Incorporation Act, the Rules of Kootenay Savings Credit 
 Union, and the Virtual Meeting Rules of Order.  Forrest also  advised of the 
 process for Member voting on Motions.  A copy of the Rules was provided 
 in the AGM meeting package. 
 
Introductions: The Chair introduced the Board of Directors and the Executive Leadership 
 Team.  Forrest also acknowledged the dedication and contribution of 
 retiring Directors, Ron Anderson and Bob Parkinson. 
 
Board & Management Report for 2021: 
 
Forrest Drinnan presented the formal report of the Board and Management for 2021. 
 
Financial Highlights 2021: 
 
President and CEO, Brent Tremblay presented the Financial highlights of 2021 operations.  
There were no questions and the Membership accepted the report. 
 
Formal report of the External Auditors: 
 
The formal report of the External Auditors was presented by Darcy Haw of MNP.   
There were no questions and the Membership accepted the report. 
 



  

 
 

 

External Auditors Appointment: 
 
The Membership accepted the appointment of the firm MNP LLP of Kelowna as External 
Auditors for the calendar year 2023. 
 
Nominations and Elections Committee Report: 
 
Linda MacDermid, Chair of the Nominations and Elections Committee, advised that the 
Membership was notified that there were 6 Director positions available for election in 2022, 
two of which were due to retirements).  Nomination papers were received from the four 
incumbents and there were four additional nominations from the Membership.  The 
following Directors were elected by the membership or were in by acclamation. 
 

 Owen Morris  Area B Region 
 John Brand  Area C Region 
 Wendy Booth  Area D Region 
 Roberta Schnider Director At Large 
 Mike Konkin   Director At Large 
 John Stephens  Director At Large 

 
There were no questions, and the Membership accepted the report.  Outgoing Director Mark 
Martin was thanked for his dedication and contribution to Kootenay Savings. 
 
New Business: 
 
Director Remuneration: 
The current Director remuneration was set 12 years ago.  The membership approved a total 
remuneration of $125,000 to be allocated and distributed at the discretion of the Board. 
 
Other Business: 
 
Brent Tremblay Farewell: 
Along with the Membership, Forrest Drinnan congratulated Brent Tremblay, President & CEO 
on his retirement, serving the credit union for 45 years.  Brent led the credit union through 
many strategic initiatives, growing by more than one billion dollars under management, 
during his tenure. 
 
Member Questions: 
The Chair asked the Membership if they had any questions or other business to present.  No 
other business was noted.  Most questions were responded to during the meeting, and it was 
agreed that responses to some questions would be investigated further outside of the 
meeting. 
 
Adjournment: The 53rd Annual General meeting was adjourned at 6:34 pm. 
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Kootenay Savings Credit Union: 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kootenay Savings Credit Union (the "Credit Union"), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, changes in members' equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated  financial
position of the Credit Union as at December 31, 2022, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Credit Union in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Credit Union or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Credit Union’s internal

control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by management.

1.877.766.9735   T: 250.763.8919   F: 250.763.1121Suite 1500, 1700 Dickson Avenue, Kelowna B.C., V1Y 0L5
MNP LLP

    MNP.ca
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on

the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required

to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the

date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease to continue as a

going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,

and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within

the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision

and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Kelowna, British Columbia

March 9, 2023 Chartered Professional Accountants



Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

2022 2021
(Restated -

Note 5)

Assets
Cash and interest-bearing deposits (Note 6) 81,734 148,564
Member loans receivable (Note 23) 1,234,228 1,143,039
Income taxes receivable 598 -
Property, plant and equipment (Note 7) 14,461 15,151
Intangible assets (Note 8) 2,090 1,371
Investment property (Note 9) 6,486 5,856
Other assets (Note 10) 21,586 17,997
Deferred tax assets (Note 15) 700 971
Investment in associate (Note 11) 1,867 2,178
Other investments (Note 12) 134,168 127,557

1,497,918 1,462,684

Liabilities
Member deposits (Note 13) 1,389,960 1,355,561
Income taxes payable - 29
Borrowings (Note 14) 12,151 14,262
Other liabilities (Note 16) 15,833 13,104
Patronage payable 240 312
Member shares (Note 18) 2,791 3,003

1,420,975 1,386,271

Commitments, letters of credit and contingencies  (Note 23), (Note 25)

Members' equity
Member equity shares (Note 18) 11,999 12,881
Retained earnings 67,377 64,016
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,433) (484)

76,943 76,413

1,497,918 1,462,684

Approved on behalf of the Board

Board Member Board Member

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Tanya.Kethler
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Income

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

2022 2021

Interest income
Member loans 38,294 35,750
Investments 3,897 1,422

42,191 37,172

Interest expense
Member deposits 13,067 10,097
Borrowings 515 676

13,582 10,773

Net interest income 28,609 26,399
Recovery of credit losses (Note 23) (13) (664)

Net interest income after recovery of credit losses 28,622 27,063
Securitized loan expense (377) (254)
Other income 8,900 9,550

Net interest and other income, after recovery of credit losses 37,145 36,359

Operating expenses
Personnel 20,338 19,692
General business 8,109 6,827
Occupancy 3,952 3,614

32,399 30,133

Net income, before property development, other items and taxes 4,746 6,226

Property development
Property sales 1,507 2,964
Cost of property (1,625) (3,366)
Operating expenses (173) (270)

(291) (672)

Net income, before other items and taxes 4,455 5,554
Other items

Patronage and dividends (Note 17) (101) (138)
Gain (loss) on assets 402 (40)
Contributions to Kootenay Savings Community Foundation (200) (50)

Net income, before taxes 4,556 5,326

Income taxes (Note 15)
Current 827 916
Deferred 270 (235)

1,097 681

Net income 3,459 4,645

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

2022 2021

Net income 3,459 4,645

Other comprehensive loss
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans, net of tax - 93
Unrealized fair value losses on investment in associate arising during the year, net
of tax (95) -

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Change in unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, net of tax - 60
Unrealized fair value losses on investments arising during the year, net of tax (1,854) (606)

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of income tax (1,949) (453)

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,510 4,192

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Members' Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

Member
shares

Retained
earnings

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss Total equity

Balance December 31, 2020, as previously stated 13,485 63,050 (31) 76,504

Prior period adjustment   (Note 5) - (3,548) - (3,548)

Balance December 31, 2020 , as restated 13,485 59,502 (31) 72,956

Net income - 4,645 - 4,645

Patronage, net of tax  (Note 17) - (131) - (131)
Unrealized fair value losses on investments arising
during the year, net of tax - - (606) (606)

Net redemption of member shares (604) - - (604)

Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans, net of tax - - 93 93
Change in unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, net of
tax - - 60 60

Balance December 31, 2021 12,881 64,016 (484) 76,413

Net income - 3,459 - 3,459

Patronage, net of tax   (Note 17) - (98) - (98)

Net redemption of member shares (882) - - (882)
Unrealized fair value losses on investments arising
during the year, net of tax - - (1,854) (1,854)
Unrealized fair value losses on investment in associate
arising during the year, net of tax - - (95) (95)

Balance December 31, 2022 11,999 67,377 (2,433) 76,943

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

2022 2021

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating activities

Net income 3,459 4,645
Interest income (42,191) (37,172)
Interest expense 13,582 10,773
Depreciation and amortization 1,990 1,578
Increase in fair value of investment properties (518) -
Recovery of credit losses (13) (664)
Dividend received from associate 150 100
Equity pickup of investment in associate 160 (147)
Provision for income taxes 1,097 681
Decrease in the fair value of properties held for resale 96 96
(Gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 20 (52)

(22,168) (20,162)
Changes in non-cash working capital items:

Accounts receivable 31 (244)
Other current assets/liabilities 3,475 (2,166)
Patronage payable (72) (38)
Interest received on member loans and investments 35,899 38,848
Interest received on investments 3,166 1,629
Interest paid (12,683) (11,707)
Income taxes paid (580) (760)

7,068 5,400

Financing activities
Net increase in member deposits 34,399 125,105
Decrease in member shares (1,094) (755)
Equity portion of patronage dividends, net of income tax (98) (131)
Repayments from securitized mortgages, net (7,114) (1,682)
Net decrease (increase) in borrowings 5,002 (16,445)

31,095 106,092

Investing activities
Net increase in lending activity (91,188) (82,281)
Purchases of other investments (29,219) (92,905)
Proceeds on disposal of other investments 17,545 -
Additions to property, plant and equipment (856) (765)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 236
Additions to intangible assets (1,227) (183)
Proceeds from disposal of investment property - 1,100
Additions to investment property (48) (322)

(104,993) (175,120)

Decrease in cash and interest-bearing deposits (66,830) (63,628)
Cash and interest-bearing deposits, beginning of year 148,564 212,192

Cash and interest-bearing deposits, end of year 81,734 148,564

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

1. Reporting entity information

Entity information

Kootenay Savings Credit Union (the “Credit Union”) is incorporated under the laws of British Columbia and is regulated
under the Financial Institutions Act of British Columbia and is a member of Central 1 Credit Union Limited ("Central 1"). The
Credit Union serves members in the Kootenay region and provides financial services through 11 branches, telephone and
on-line banking. The address of the Credit Union's registered office is 220-1101 Dewdney Avenue, Trail, British Columbia. 

Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements include, in addition to the accounts of the Credit Union, the accounts of Kootenay
Savings Insurance Services Ltd. ("KSIS"), Kootenay Savings MoneyWorks Ltd. ("KSMW") and KS Property Management
Inc. ("KSPM"), which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Kootenay Savings Credit Union. All inter-entity balances and
transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with all IFRS issued and in effect as at December 31, 2022. 

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 were approved and authorized for issue by
the Board of Directors on March 9, 2023.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical basis except for the revaluation of certain
financial instruments.

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Credit Union’s functional currency.

2. Change in accounting policies

Standards and Interpretations effective in the current period

The Credit Union adopted amendments to the following standards, effective January 1, 2022. Adoption of these
amendments had no effect on the Credit Union’s consolidated financial statements.

 IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements

 IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities

 IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements

 IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment 

 IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures

 IAS 38 Intangible assets

6



Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

3. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

As the precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, the preparation of consolidated
financial statements for a period necessarily involves the use of estimates and approximations which have been made using
careful judgment. These estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions that the Credit
Union may undertake in the future.

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date are discussed
below.

Allowance for expected credit losses

At each reporting period, financial assets are assessed to determine whether their credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. In determining whether credit risk has significantly increased, management develops a number of
assumptions about the following factors which impact the borrowers’ ability to meet debt obligations:

 Expected significant increase in unemployment rates or interest rates

 Declining revenues, working capital deficiencies, increases in balance sheet leverage, and liquidity

 Expected or actual changes in internal credit ratings of the borrowers or external credit ratings of the instrument

 The correlation between credit risk on all lending facilities of the same borrower

 Changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees or credit

enhancements

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial assets.
In measuring the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, management makes assumptions about prepayments, the
timing and extent of missed payments or default events. In addition, management makes assumptions and estimates about the
impact that future events may have on the historical data used to measure expected credit losses.

In estimating expected credit losses, the Credit Union develops a number of assumptions as follows:

 The period over which the Credit Union is exposed to credit risk, considering for example, prepayments, extension

options, demand features

 The probability-weighted outcome, including identification of scenarios that specify the amount and timing of the cash

flows for particular outcomes and the estimated probability of those outcomes

 The risk of default occurring on loans during their expected lives and during the next 12 months after the reporting

date

 Expected cash short falls including, recoveries, costs to recover and the effects of any collateral or other credit

enhancements

 Estimates of effective interest rates used in incorporating the time value of money

The above assumptions are based on historical information and adjusted for current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. The Credit Union determines adjustments needed to its historical assumptions by monitoring the
correlation of the probability of default and loss rates with the following economic variables:

 Interest rates

 Unemployment rates

 Gross domestic product

 Inflation

 Loan to value ratios

 Vacancy rates

The estimate of expected credit losses reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a
range of possible outcomes that are neither best-case nor worse-case scenarios. The Credit Union uses judgment to weight
these scenarios.
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

3. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (Continued from previous page)

The current inflationary environment has resulted in significant increases to interest rates during 2022. These
increases,combined with other economic factors resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, could significantly impact the fair
values of various financial instruments. In addition, there is a potential impact on credit risk which could require an increase to
the Credit Union’s estimate of its allowance for loan impairment. 

The current environment is subject to rapid change and to the extent that certain effects of inflation, increased interest rates
and COVID-19 are not fully incorporated into the model calculations, increased temporary quantitative and qualitative
adjustments have been considered and applied where necessary. The Credit Union has performed certain additional qualitative
portfolio and loan level assessment if significant changes in credit risk were identified.

Financial instruments not traded in active markets

For financial instruments not traded in active markets, fair values are determined using valuation techniques such as the
discounted cash flow model that rely on assumptions that are based on observable active markets or rates. Certain
assumptions take into consideration liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Credit Union assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for non-financial assets. Non-
financial assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not subject to amortization, such as goodwill, are tested annually for
impairment or more frequently if impairment indicators exist. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment if there are
indicators that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Income tax

The Credit Union periodically assesses its liabilities and contingencies related to income taxes for all years open to audit based
on the latest information available. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the Credit Union records
its best estimate of the tax asset or liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management
believes they have adequately provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a
materially different outcome than the amount included in the tax assets or liabilities.

Classification of financial assets

Classification of financial assets requires management to make judgments regarding the business model under which the
Credit Union’s financial assets are held and whether contractual cash flows consist solely of payments of principal and interest.
Management has determined that the penalty to exercise prepayment features embedded in certain loans made to members do
not result in payments that are not solely payments of principal and interest because they represent reasonable additional
compensation for early termination of the contract.

Hedge accounting

In applying hedge accounting, the Credit Union uses the following key judgments:

1. An economic relationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging instrument based on a hedge ratio

The Credit Union uses the same hedge rating for the hedging relationship as the one that results from the actual quantity of the
portfolio of loans (hedged item) and the interest rate swap (hedging instrument). Interest rate swaps (hedging instruments) are
specifically transacted to economically hedge the portfolio of loans (hedged items). The fair values of the hedging instruments
and the hedged items move in the opposite direction because of the interest rate risk. Therefore, there is an economic
relationship between the portfolios of loans (or a portion thereof) and the swaps.

2. Critical terms of the hedged item and hedging instrument

The Credit Union assesses at inception and in subsequent periods whether the following critical terms of the hedged item and
the hedging instrument have changed.

 Notional amount

 Maturity

 Correlation between 3 month Canadian Dealer Offered Rate ("CDOR") and Prime rate

 Weighted average interest rate

8



Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

3. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (Continued from previous page)

3. Effect of credit risk

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swaps as hedging instruments with a highly rated counterparty (Concentra Bank)
(BBB rated). Therefore, Credit Valuation Adjustment on the hedging instrument is expected to not be material or volatile in a
manner to dominate the value changes resulting from the economic relationship.

Further, the Credit Union considers its own credit risk as low (at December 31, 2022 the Credit Union was above policy and
target for all capital measures) and as a consequence, Debt Valuation Adjustment on the hedged item is not expected to
dominate the hedge effectiveness assessment.

As interest rate swaps are specifically transacted to economically hedge existing loans, application of hedge accounting will
align with the risk management strategy of the Credit Union and therefore, the Credit Union's hedging relationship and risk
management objective contributes to executing the overall risk management strategy. 

For more information refer to Notes 22 and 23.

4. Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Credit Union and its subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Credit Union. Control is achieved where the Credit Union is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and it has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee. In assessing control, only rights which give the Credit Union the current ability to direct the relevant
activities and that the Credit Union has the practical ability to exercise, is considered.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in these consolidated financial statements
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other
events in similar circumstances. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
ensure consistency with those used by other members of the group. 

Any balances, unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising from inter-entity transactions, are eliminated
upon consolidation. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Credit Union’s interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same manner
as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Cash and interest-bearing deposits

Cash and interest-bearing deposits includes cash on hand and operating deposits with financial institutions.

Investments

Investments which meet the definition of financial instruments are measured and recorded on a basis consistent with the
appropriate financial instrument designation.

Investment in associate

The Credit Union's investment in its associate, Kootenay Insurance Services Ltd. ("KIS"), is accounted for using the equity
method.  An associate is an entity in which the Credit Union has significant influence.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost plus post acquisition changes in the Credit Union's share of net assets of the associate.  The consolidated income
statement reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate.  Where there has been a change recognized
directly in the equity of the associate, the Credit Union recognizes its share of any changes.  Unrealized gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Credit Union and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the
associate.
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

4. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

After application of the equity method, the Credit Union determines whether it is necessary to recognize an additional
impairment loss on the Credit Union's investment in its associate.  The Credit Union determines at each reporting date
whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Credit Union
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying
value and recognizes the amount in earnings.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Credit Union measures and recognizes any retaining investment at
its fair value.  Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair
value of the retaining investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in earnings.

Member loans receivable

All member loans receivable are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Member loans receivable are initially measured at fair value, net of loan origination fees and inclusive of
transaction costs incurred. Member loans receivable are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective
interest rate method, less any allowance for estimated credit losses. Interest is accounted for on the accrual basis for all
loans.

Acquisition of property in settlement of loans

Property acquired in settlement of loans is recorded at the lower of estimated net realizable value and the amount owing on
the loan. Losses arising on realization or reduction of the realizable value of such property are charged to earnings.

Inventories - property under development

Inventories are comprised of property under development and are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost
is determined based on specific identification. Cost comprises all costs of purchases, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing inventories to a saleable condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and selling costs. 

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method at rates intended to depreciate the cost of the assets over their
estimated useful lives:

Years

Buildings 15-50
Buildings - HVAC 10-25
Buildings - improvements 10-15
Buildings - roof 25
Furniture 15
Equipment 5-25
Computer equipment 4
Vehicles 5

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed on an annual basis and the useful life is altered if
estimates have changed significantly. Gains or losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized in earnings.
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4. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Intangible assets

Amortization of limited life intangible assets is charged to earnings on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for intangibles with finite lives are as
follows:

Computer software 4 - 16 years

The useful lives of the intangible assets are reviewed on an annual basis and the useful life is altered if estimates have
changed significantly. Gains or losses on the disposal of intangible assets are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized in earnings.

Investment property

The Credit Union’s investment property consists of land and building held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation.
Investment property is initially recognized at cost, including directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is carried at fair value which reflects market conditions at each reporting date, with any
gain or loss arising from a change in fair value recognized in earnings in the period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Credit Union reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Credit Union estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU’s, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGU’s for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in earnings.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognized immediately in earnings.

Investment in insurance policies

Investment in insurance policies represents the cash surrender value ("CSV") of life insurance policies on the lives of
indemnitors on foreclosed members' loans where the Credit Union is the owner and beneficiary of the policy. The CSV of
the policies is recorded as an asset. Increases in the CSV of the policies, as well as death benefits received, net of any
CSV, are recorded in non-interest income.

Accrued liabilities and accounts payable

Accrued liabilities and accounts payable are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value due to the short term
nature of these liabilities.

Member deposits

Member deposits are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method.
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4. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Securitization 

For securitization transactions, loans are derecognized only when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these
assets have ceased to exist and substantially all the risks and rewards of the loans have been transferred. If the criteria for
derecognition have not been met, the securitization is reflected as a financing transaction and the related liability is initially
recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized costs, using the effective interest rate method. 

During the year, the Credit Union's securitization activity primarily involves sales of National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed
Securities (NHA MBS) through the Canada Housing Trust (CHT).

Mortgages securitized and sold as NHA MBS's continue to be recognized in the Credit Union's Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position as, in the opinion of the Credit Union's management, these transactions do not result in the transfer of
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying assets. Consideration received from CHT as a result of
these transactions is recognized in the Credit Union's Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as borrowings.

Member shares

Shares are classified as liabilities or member equity in accordance with their terms. Shares redeemable at the option of the
member, either on demand or on withdrawal from membership, are classified as liabilities. Shares redeemable at the
discretion of the Credit Union board of directors are classified as equity. Shares redeemable subject to regulatory
restrictions are accounted for using the criteria set out in IFRIC 2 Members' Shares in Cooperative Entities and Similar
Instruments.

Pensions and post retirement benefits

The Credit Union has both defined contribution and defined benefit pension plans, including participation in a multi-
employer defined benefit plan. 

In defined contribution plans, the Credit Union pays contributions to separate legal entities, and the risk of a change in value
rests with the employee. Thus, the Credit Union has no further obligations once the fees are paid. Premiums for defined
contribution plans are expensed when an employee has rendered his/her services. The multi-employer defined benefit
pension plan is accounted for using defined contribution accounting as sufficient information is not available to apply
defined benefit accounting. 

In the other defined benefit plan, a liability is recognized as the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of
the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for any actuarial gains or losses and past service costs.
Actuarial gains and losses have been recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Past
service costs are recognized immediately in earnings. Contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Excess (shortfall) of contribution payments over the contribution due for service, is recorded as an asset
(liability).

Income taxes

Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax is recognized either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, or the tax arises from a business combination.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The calculation of current tax is based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the assets are
realized or the liabilities are settled. The calculation of deferred tax is based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its tax base,
except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary differences arising on
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable income.
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4. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is restricted to
those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available which allow the deferred tax asset to be
utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Foreign currency translation

Transaction amounts denominated in foreign currencies are translated into their Canadian dollar equivalents at exchange
rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Carrying values of monetary assets and liabilities reflect the exchange rates at the
balance sheet date. Translation gains and losses are included in other income.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and initial measurement

The Credit Union recognizes financial assets when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets are measured initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. Transaction costs
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss when incurred.

Classification and subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The Credit Union determines the classification
of its financial assets, together with any embedded derivatives, based on the business model for managing the financial
assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics. 

Financial assets classified as follows:

 Amortized cost - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows are solely

payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest revenue is calculated using the

effective interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment, foreign exchange and derecognition are

recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets measured at amortized cost are comprised of deposits with Central 1

and Concentra, investment in Central 1 bonds, member loans receivable, accrued interest receivable and accounts

receivable. 

 Fair value through other comprehensive income - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and

for selling the financial assets, and for which the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and

interest, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Interest income calculated using the

effective interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment and foreign exchange are recognized in

profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of the financial assets are recognized in other

comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other

comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. Financial assets measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income are comprised of Central 1 mandatory liquidity pool deposits.

 Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss - Assets that do not meet the criteria to be measured at amortized

cost, or fair value through other comprehensive income, are measured at fair value through profit or loss. All

interest income and changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are recognized in profit or loss. Financial

assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss are comprised of cash, certain other investments

and derivatives. 
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4. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

 Designated at fair value through profit or loss – On initial recognition, the Credit Union may irrevocably designate a

financial asset to be measured at fair value through profit or loss in order to eliminate or significantly reduce an

accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognizing the gains and

losses on them, on different bases. All interest income and changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are

recognized in profit or loss. Credit Union does not hold any financial assets designated to be measured at fair

value through profit or loss.

The Credit Union measures all equity investments at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit or loss. Equity
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss are comprised of shares in Central 1 and Concentra and other
equity investments.

Refer to Note 23 for more information about financial instruments held by the Credit Union, their measurement bases, and
their carrying value.

Business model assessment

The Credit Union assesses the objective of its business model for holding a financial asset at a level of aggregation which
best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. Information considered in this
assessment includes stated policies and objectives, how performance of the portfolio is evaluated, risks affecting the
performance of the business model, how managers of the business are compensated, and the significance and frequency
of sales in prior periods.

Contractual cash flow assessment

The cash flows of financial assets are assessed as to whether they are solely payments of principal and interest on the
basis of their contractual terms. For this purpose, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money, the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding, and other basic lending risks and costs. In performing this assessment, the Credit Union considers
factors that would alter the timing and amount of cash flows such as prepayment and extension features, terms that might
limit the Credit Union’s claim to cash flows, and any features that modify consideration for the time value of money.

Reclassifications

The Credit Union reclassifies debt instruments only when its business model for managing those financial assets has
changed. Reclassifications are applied prospectively from the reclassification date and any previously recognized gains,
losses or interest are not restated.

Impairment

The Credit Union recognizes a loss allowance for the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets, other than
debt instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity investments. Expected credit losses are measured
to reflect a probability-weighted amount, the time value of money, and reasonable and supportable information regarding
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

For member loans receivable, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from
default events that are possible within the next 12-month period, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. For those financial assets for which the Credit Union assessed that a significant increase in credit
risk has occurred, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from all possible
default events over the assets’ contractual lifetime.

The Credit Union applies the simplified approach for other receivables that do not contain a significant financing component.
Using the simplified approach, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from
all possible default events over the assets’ contractual lifetime.

The Credit Union assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired at the reporting date. Regular indicators that a
financial instrument is credit-impaired include significant financial difficulties as evidenced through borrowing patterns or
observed balances in other accounts, breaches of borrowing contracts such as default events or breaches of borrowing
covenants, and requests to restructure loan payment schedules. For financial assets assessed as credit-impaired at the
reporting date, the Credit Union continues to recognize a loss allowance equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
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4. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 

 For financial assets measured at amortized cost, as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the financial

assets;

 For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, as a provision; and

 For facilities with both a drawn and undrawn component where the Credit Union cannot separately identify

expected credit losses between the two components, as a deduction from the carrying amount of the drawn

component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the carrying amount of the drawn component is presented as a

provision.

Financial assets are written off when the Credit Union has no reasonable expectations of recovering all or any portion
thereof.

Refer to Note 23 for additional information about the Credit Union’s credit risk management process, credit risk exposure
and the amounts arising from expected credit losses. 

Derecognition of financial assets

The Credit Union derecognizes a financial asset when its contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or the financial asset has been transferred under particular circumstances.

For this purpose, a financial asset is transferred if the Credit Union either:

 Transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset, or;

 Retains the right to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes an obligation to pay

received cash flows in full to one or more third parties without material delay and is prohibited from further

selling or transferring the financial asset.

Transferred financial assets are evaluated to determine the extent to which the Credit Union retains the risks and rewards of
ownership. When the Credit Union neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset, it evaluates whether it has retained control of the financial asset.

The Credit Union engages in securitization transactions resulting in transfers not qualifying for derecognition, where
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have been retained. For these transactions, the transferred asset continues
to be recognized in its entirety and a financial liability is recognized for the consideration received. Income on the
transferred asset and expenses incurred on the financial liability are recognized in subsequent periods.

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, or risks and rewards have neither been
transferred nor retained and control of the financial asset has not been retained, the Credit Union derecognizes the financial
asset. At the same time, the Credit Union separately recognizes as assets or liabilities the fair value of any rights and
obligations created or retained in the transfer. Any difference between the carrying amount measured at the date of
recognition and the consideration received is recognized in profit or loss. Such transactions include the sale of loan pools. 

Modification of financial assets

The Credit Union assesses the modification of terms of a financial asset to evaluate whether its contractual rights to the
cash flows from that asset have expired in accordance with the Credit Union’s derecognition policy.

When the modifications do not result in derecognition of the financial asset, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
is recalculated with any difference between the previous carrying amount and the new carrying amount recognized in profit
or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated as the present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.

For the purpose of applying the impairment requirements, at each reporting date subsequent to the modification, the Credit
Union continues to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on the modified financial assets from
the date of initial recognition.
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Financial liabilities

Recognition and initial measurement

The Credit Union recognizes a financial liability when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At
initial recognition, the Credit Union measures financial liabilities at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to their issuance, with the exception of financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss for which transaction costs are immediately recorded in profit or loss.

Where an instrument contains both a liability and equity component, these components are recognized separately based on
the substance of the instrument, with the liability component measured initially at fair value and the equity component
assigned the residual amount.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost or fair value through profit or loss.

When the transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition because the Credit Union has retained substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership, a liability is recognized for the consideration received. Subsequently, any expense
incurred on the financial liability is recognized in profit or loss.

All other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost include member deposits, trade and other payables, borrowings, member shares, and other
liabilities.

The classification of a financial instrument or component as a financial liability or equity instrument determines where gains
or losses are recognized. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to financial liabilities are recognized in profit or loss
while distributions to holders of instruments classified as equity are recognized in equity.

Financial liabilities are not reclassified subsequent to initial recognition. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Credit Union derecognizes a financial liability only when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date the Credit Union becomes party to the provisions of the contract,
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the fair value of derivatives
not designated as a hedging instrument are recognized in profit or loss.

The Credit Union designates certain derivative financial instruments as the hedging instrument in qualifying hedging
relationships in order to better reflect the effect of its risk management activities in the consolidated financial statements.

Qualifying hedging relationships are those where there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument, the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic
relationship, and the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the actual quantities of the
hedging instrument and the hedged item that the Credit Union uses for hedging purposes. 

At inception of the hedging relationship, the Credit Union documents the economic relationship between the hedging
instrument(s) and the hedged item(s), along with its risk management objective and strategy.

Cash flow hedges

The Credit Union uses cash flow hedges to hedge its exposure to the variability of cash flows related to variable interest
bearing instruments or the forecasted assurance of fixed rate liabilities. The Credit Union's cash flow hedges include
hedges of floating rate loans.

The Credit Union accumulates changes in fair value related to the effective portion of the hedging instrument in the cash
flow hedge reserve within equity. The effective portion of the hedge is equal to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on
the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge. The
ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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When the hedged item is a forecast transaction that subsequently results in recognition of a non-financial asset or liability,
the amounts accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve are removed from equity and included directly in the initial cost or
other carrying amount of the asset or liability. This adjustment does not affect other comprehensive income, unless that
amount is a loss and the Credit Union expects that all or a portion of the loss will not be recovered in future periods. In this
case, the Credit Union immediately reclassifies the amount not expected to be recovered to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment.

Otherwise, amounts accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve are reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment in the same period(s) during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss. The amounts
reclassified to profit or loss are presented in the same line item as the underlying hedged transaction.

When hedge accounting is discontinued for a cash flow hedge and the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur,
accumulated hedging gains or losses remain in the cash flow hedge reserve until such time as the future cash flows occur
and are then accounted for as described above. If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur,
accumulated hedging gains and losses are immediately reclassified to profit or loss. 

Rebalancing and discontinuation of hedging relationships

If the hedge ratio for risk management purposes is no longer optimal but the risk management objective remains
unchanged and the hedging relationship continues to qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging ratio is rebalanced by
adjusting either the volume of the hedging instrument or the volume of the hedged item to realign the hedge ratio with the
ratio used for risk management purposes. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in profit or loss at the time of rebalancing.

Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria,
including instances where the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised.

Revenue recognition

The following describes the Credit Union’s principal activities from which it generates revenue.

Interest income

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the expected life of the
financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the amortized cost of the financial liability. The
effective interest rate is calculated considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, except for the expected
credit losses of financial assets.

The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the instrument is measured on initial
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus any cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of
any difference between the initial amount and maturity amount and adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. The
‘gross carrying amount’ of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit
losses. 

Interest income and expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or the amortized cost of the financial liability.

Where a financial asset has become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated in
subsequent periods by applying the effective interest method to the amortized cost of the financial asset. If the asset
subsequently ceases to be credit-impaired, calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Other income

The Credit Union generates revenue from other revenue streams including service charges, ATM surcharges, prepayment
penalties, mutual fund commissions, and insurance commissions. Revenue is recognized as services are rendered.

The member obtains the benefit of having the Credit Union perform a revenue generating service. This occurs immediately
when the service is performed; therefore, revenue is recognized at that point in time.
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Management has not made any judgments in determining the amount of costs incurred to obtain or fulfil a contract with a
customer as it does not expect these costs to be recovered. Such costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. 

The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregated of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets
transferred, liabilities assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Credit Union in exchange for control of the acquirees.
Acquisition-related costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

Where appropriate, the cost of acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value (the date in which the Credit Union acquired control of the
acquiree). Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as
measurement period adjustments. All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as
an asset or liability are recognized in profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as equity
are not recognized. 

The Credit Union recognizes any non-controlling interests in its subsidiaries either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the subsidiaries assets. 

The acquired identifiable assets, and liabilities are recognized at their acquisition date fair values if they meet the definitions
of assets and liabilities for the preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements at acquisition date and
they were exchanged as part of the business combination rather than as the result of separate transactions. 

The following are exceptions to this recognition and measurement principle: 

 Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income taxes;

 Liabilities or assets related to the acquiree’s employee benefit arrangements are recognized and measured in

accordance with IAS 19 Employee benefits.

Fair value measurements

The Credit Union classifies fair value measurements recognized in the statement of financial position using a three-tier fair
value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

 Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

 Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the Credit Union to develop its

own assumptions.

Fair value measurements are classified in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to that
fair value measurement. This assessment requires judgment, considering factors specific to an asset or a liability and may
affect placement within the fair value hierarchy. 

Standards issued but not yet effective

The Credit Union has not yet applied the following new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards that have
been issued as at December 31, 2022 but are not yet effective. Unless otherwise stated, the Credit Union does not plan to
early adopt any of these new or amended standards and interpretations.

IFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to IFRS 16, issued in September 2022, add subsequent measurement requirements for sale and leaseback
transactions that satisfy the requirements in IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers to be accounted for as a sale.

The amendments are effective for transactions for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. The
Credit Union is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements.
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Standards issued but not yet effective (Continued from previous page)

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, issued in February 2021, help entities provide accounting policy
disclosures that are more useful to primary users of financial statements by replacing the requirement to disclose
“significant” accounting policies with a requirement to disclose “material” accounting policies and providing guidance to
explain and demonstrate the application of the four-step materiality process to accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and are required to be applied
prospectively. The Credit Union is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial
statements.

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

Amendments to IAS 8, issued in February 2021, introduce a new definition of “accounting estimates” to replace the
definition of “change in accounting estimates” and also include clarification intended to help entities distinguish changes in
accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The Credit Union is currently
assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements.

IAS 12 Income Taxes

Amendments to IAS 12, issued in May 2021, narrow the scope of the recognition exemption to require an entity to recognize
deferred tax on initial recognition of particular transactions, to the extent that transaction gives rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. These amendments apply to transactions for which an entity recognizes both an asset
and liability, for example leases and decommissioning liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The Credit Union is currently
assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements.

5. Prior period adjustment

During the year it was determined that certain amounts owing to members were under accrued and an adjustment to prior
periods was necessary, including interest on those amounts.  An amount of $4,274 has been accrued resulting in an
increase to deferred tax assets of $726 for a net amount of $3,548 charged to opening retained earnings.

6. Cash and interest-bearing deposits

2022 2021

Cash 12,981 53,255
Interest-bearing deposits with Central 1 26,253 58,305
Other interest-bearing deposits 42,500 37,004

81,734 148,564
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7. Property, plant and equipment

Land Buildings
Buildings -

HVAC
Buildings -

improvements
Buildings -

roof Equipment
Computer

equipment Furniture Vehicles Total

Cost

Balance at December 31, 2020 1,613 12,474 2,367 9,272 731 7,228 1,855 2,449 64 38,053
Additions - - 75 20 136 144 380 10 - 765
Disposals (14) (257) (37) (185) (29) (2) (102) - - (626)
Transfer to investment
property - - - - (59) - - - - (59)

Balance at December 31, 2021 1,599 12,217 2,405 9,107 779 7,370 2,133 2,459 64 38,133
Additions - - 77 316 2 160 242 92 - 889
Transfer to investment property - (71) (12) (73) (3) - - - - (159)

Balance at December 31, 2022 1,599 12,146 2,470 9,350 778 7,530 2,375 2,551 64 38,863

Depreciation

Balance at December 31, 2020 - 5,315 1,148 6,085 506 5,353 1,337 2,181 64 21,989
Depreciation - 177 83 446 16 441 250 50 - 1,463
Disposals - (200) (18) (170) (6) (4) (72) - - (470)

Balance at December 31, 2021 - 5,292 1,213 6,361 516 5,790 1,515 2,231 64 22,982
Depreciation - 264 82 449 18 383 274 45 - 1,515
Transfer to investment property - (53) (2) (39) (1) - - - - (95)

Balance at December 31, 2022 - 5,503 1,293 6,771 533 6,173 1,789 2,276 64 24,402

Net book value

At December 31, 2021 1,599 6,925 1,192 2,746 263 1,580 618 228 - 15,151

At December 31, 2022 1,599 6,643 1,177 2,579 245 1,357 586 275 - 14,461
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8. Intangible assets

Computer
software

Cost

Balance at December 31, 2020 6,762

Additions 183

Balance at December 31, 2021 6,945

Additions 1,194

Balance at December 31, 2022 8,139

Amortization

Balance at December 31, 2020 5,459

Amortization 115

Balance at December 31, 2021 5,574

Amortization 475

Balance at December 31, 2022 6,049

Net book value

At December 31, 2021 1,371

At December 31, 2022 2,090
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9. Investment property

2022 2021

Investment property, at fair value

Carrying amount, beginning of year 5,856 6,335
Additions to properties 48 322
Fair value adjustments 518 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 64 59
Disposals - (860)

6,486 5,856

Investment properties are subject to external valuation performed by qualified valuation professionals on a regular basis.
The fair value of investment property is determined by discounting the expected cash flows of the parties based upon
internal plans and assumptions and comparable market transactions.

During the year, $406 of rental income from investment properties were recognized in earnings (2021 - $476) with direct
operating expenses of $188 (2021 - $278).

10. Other assets

2022 2021

Inventories - property under development 13,780 10,730
Accrued interest receivable 3,330 2,311
Deferred expenses 1,888 1,748
Prepaid expenses 1,303 1,707
Accounts receivable 712 776
Property held for resale 552 648
Other 21 77

21,586 17,997
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11. Investment in associate

The Credit Union has a 25% interest in Kootenay Insurance Services Ltd. ("KIS"). As each of the investors have equal
voting rights and board representation, none are deemed to have control. The following table illustrates summarized
financial information of the Credit Union's investment in KIS:

2022 2021
Share of the associate's statement of financial position:
Current assets 502 456
Non-current assets 2,113 2,525
Current liabilities (378) (402)
Non-current liabilities (66) (98)

Equity 2,171 2,481

Share of the associate's revenue and profit (loss):
Revenue 1,630 1,558

Profit (loss) (160) 147
Dividends received (150) (100)

Carrying amount of the investment 1,867 2,178

12. Other investments

2022 2021
Equity investments
Fair value through profit or loss

Shares, Central 1 427 417
Shares, Concentra 5,000 5,000
Investment in Truvera Mortgage (Senior) 1 Limited Partnership 3,300 2,275
Investment in GCR Capital Inc. 250 250
Units of Southern Interior Innovation Fund - 340
Investment in Ficanex Technology Limited Partnership 27 9
Investment in Ficanex Services Limited Partnership 108 157

9,112 8,448

Investments
Amortized cost

Investment in Central 1 bonds - 5,005

Fair value through other comprehensive income
Central 1 mandatory liquidity pool deposits 120,951 109,375

Fair value through profit or loss
Investment in insurance policies 4,104 4,405
Other investments 1 324

4,105 4,729

134,168 127,557
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13. Member deposits

2022 2021

Demand deposits 801,870 821,756
Term deposits 362,964 318,674
Registered savings plans 225,126 215,131

1,389,960 1,355,561

14. Borrowings

The Credit Union has loan payables and operating lines of credit in favour of Central 1 and Concentra Bank ("Concentra").
As at December 31, 2022, the Credit Union has borrowings of $5,003 from these facilities (2021 - $nil).

The Credit Union may borrow a maximum of $3,135 (2021 - $3,127) utilizing operating lines of credit, term loan facilities and
capital markets lines of credit with Central 1, secured by a demand debenture and the general assignment of book debts. 

The Credit Union may also borrow a maximum of $15,000 utilizing a revolving loan with Concentra, secured by a second
charge security interest, mortgage, pledge and charge over all of the Credit Union's present and after-acquired property.

As at December 31, 2022, $7,148 (2021 - $14,262) of securitized debt obligations were recorded in relation to MBS/CHT
program securitizations.

15. Income tax

The total provision for income taxes in the consolidated statement of income is at a rate below the combined federal and
provincial statutory income tax rates for the following reasons:

2022 2021
Amount % of Pre-tax

income
Amount % of Pre-tax

income

Combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rates 1,230 %27.0 1,438 %27.0
Credit Union and other reductions (30) %(0.6) (114) %(2.1)
Non-taxable and other items 352 %8.8 (393) %(7.4)
Tax effects of amounts recorded in other comprehensive
income

(358) %(8.1) (89) %(1.7)

Losses carried forward (97) %(2.2) (161) %(3.0)

1,097 %24.9 681 %12.8

The tax effects of temporary differences which give rise to the deferred tax liability reported on the consolidated statement of
financial position is from differences between amounts deducted for accounting and income tax purposes.
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15. Income tax (Continued from previous page)

Net deferred tax is comprised of the following:
2022 2021

(Restated -
Note 5)

Deferred tax liability
Property and equipment (718) (417)
Other temporary differences (184) (188)

(902) (605)

Deferred tax asset
Allowance for impaired loans 150 135
Post retirement benefits 243 251
Other temporary differences 1,209 1,190

1,602 1,576

Net deferred tax asset 700 971

16. Other liabilities

2022 2021
(Restated -

Note 5)

Accrued interest payable 5,469 4,569
Accrued liabilities and accounts payable 10,364 8,535

15,833 13,104

17. Distributions to members

2022 2021
Net income Equity Net income Equity

Patronage distributions 74 - 101 -
Dividends on patronage shares 26 112 35 150
Dividends on equity shares 1 6 2 8
Less: related income taxes - (20) - (27)

101 98 138 131
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18. Member shares

Authorized:

Unlimited number of Class A shares, at an issue price of $1
Unlimited number of Class B shares, at an issue price of $1
Unlimited number of Class B (registered) shares, at an issue price of $1

Member shares issued:
2022 2021

Member shares classified as equity
Class A, par value $1 each 830 865
Class B, par value $1 each 3,304 3,465
Class B (registered), par value $1 each 7,865 8,551

11,999 12,881

Member shares classified as liability
Class B, par value $1 each 826 866
Class B (registered), par value $1 each 1,965 2,137

2,791 3,003

14,790 15,884

The Credit Union has two classes of equity shares. Class A equity shares are a membership requirement with a minimum of
5 shares per junior member and 25 shares for all other members. Class A shares may be withdrawn only upon close of
membership. Class B shares are patronage shares received by the membership through patronage refunds and dividends.
Class B share withdrawal limits and restrictions are set at the discretion of the Board of Directors based on the capital
requirements of the Credit Union.  During 2022, up to 20% of the total Class B shares held by a member were available for
withdrawal. Full redemption of a member's Class B shares is allowed if the member is 65 years of age or older, upon the
death of the member, or upon close of membership due to a move to an area not serviced by the Credit Union. 

Class B shares may be registered in a RRSP, RRIF or TFSA. In addition to the previous Class B withdrawal restrictions, full
redemption is allowed upon marital breakdown and in cases of over contribution, transferred back to non-registered Class B
shares. 

As an overall restriction, in a given year, the maximum aggregate withdrawal cannot exceed 40% of the total Class B shares
within the Credit Union, unless approved by the Board. Funds invested in Class A and Class B shares are not insured by
Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation ("CUDIC").

Class A Class B
Class B

(registered) 2022 2021

Balance, beginning of year 865 4,331 10,688 15,884 16,638

New shares issued 45 - - 45 31

Transfer between share classes - (20) 20 - -

Shares redeemed (80) (335) (1,021) (1,436) (1,118)

Dividends paid to members* - 154 143 297 333

Balance, end of year 830 4,130 9,830 14,790 15,884

* Class A share dividends are paid in the form of Class B shares. Class B registered share redemptions are net of transfers
from Class B non-registered and Class B registered redemptions. 

26



Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

19. Related party transactions

Key management compensation of the Credit Union

Key management personnel ("KMP") are defined by IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as those persons having authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Credit Union, including the Board of Directors,
ALCO Committee, executives and senior management.

2022 2021

Salaries and short-term benefits 1,977 1,859

CEO Compensation

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022 the CEO of Kootenay Savings Credit Union received a compensation
package that includes the following:

Base Annual salary $ 247

Bonus (Short term incentive) $     7 (see below)

Compensation for the CEO is intended to be aligned with the organization’s overall short and long-term objectives and
results, competitive within the credit union system and affordable within the economic environment. Brent Tremblay retired
from the position of CEO effective May 31, 2022. Mark McLoughlin has been hired as the new CEO effective August 15,
2022.

The CEO’s salary is determined by the Board of Directors. For the portions of the year worked, Brent received an actual
salary of $148, and Mark received an actual salary of $99.

The CEO has the opportunity to earn up to 35% of base annual salary as a short-term incentive bonus based on the
achievement of financial, member, employee and community goals set out in our Member Experience Strategy. Brent
received a variable compensation bonus of $6.8 based on 2021 outcomes.

Brent and Mark received the same non-cash benefits as all other Kootenay Savings employees. In 2022, the value of these
Credit Union paid benefits was 14.94% and 19.94% of the CEO’s base salary respectively. 

Brent and Mark also participated in a Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (SERP), which Central 1 established to
compensate credit union employees whose benefits under the Pension Plan are restricted by limits imposed under the
Income Tax Act. In 2022, Mark received 12.27% of base annual salary through the SERP.

Upon retirement Brent became eligible for additional cash benefits. Monthly SERP payments earned upon retirement
totaled $12.8. Brent earned a retiring allowance of $47 and performed interim CEO responsibilities receiving $67 in
payment. 

Credit Union compensation policy and practices

Kootenay Savings’ compensation philosophy is designed to attract and retain a high-performance team that will be
motivated to effectively execute our Member Experience Strategy and achieve our mission to improve each member’s
financial life. This is achieved through a combination of cash compensation, variable compensation (bonus pay) and non-
cash benefits.

Kootenay Savings aims to maintain base salary levels in the median range (50th percentile), compared with credit unions of
similar size and those included in annual credit union compensation survey data provided by Central 1 Credit Union. In
2022, most management positions fell within the target range, while most non-union and union support employees’ annual
base salaries exceeded the 75th percentile.  

Management and non-union employees are eligible for short term variable compensation (bonus pay) if corporate goals for
financial performance, member satisfaction, employee engagement and community support are achieved as set out in our
Member Experience Strategy. In 2022 variable compensation in the amount of $100 was paid. 
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19. Related party transactions (Continued from previous page)

All full-time and part-time employees receive a competitive benefit package, including employer-paid healthcare benefits
and pension plan contributions.

Transactions with key management personnel

Loans made to Directors and KMP are approved under the same lending criteria applicable to members. KMP may receive
concessional rates of interest on their loans and facilities. There are no loans that are impaired in relation to loan balances
with Directors and KMP. 

There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions applicable to the family members of Directors and KMP. There
are no loans that are impaired in relation to the loan balances with family members of Directors and KMP.

2022 2021

Aggregate of loans to Directors and KMP 2,814 2,616
Total value of revolving credit facilities to Directors and KMP 1,052 677
Less: Member shares included as liabilities (2) (2)

3,864 3,291

2022 2021

During the year the aggregate value of loans disbursed to Directors and KMP
amounted to:

Mortgages 784 1,391
Loans 203 -
Lines of credit 208 55

1,195 1,446

2022 2021

Interest and other revenue earned on loans to Directors and KMP 82 91
Total interest paid on deposits to Directors and KMP 53 52

The total value of member deposits from the Directors and KMP as at the year-end:
Chequing and demand deposits 2,943 4,704
Term deposits 1,975 1,648
Registered savings plans 495 504

Total value of member deposits due to Directors and KMP 5,413 6,856
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19. Related party transactions (Continued from previous page)

Directors’ fees and expenses

Total 
meetings

Meetings
attended

Stipend Expense
reimbursement

Konkin, Mike 11 11 $ 16 $ 1
Schnider, Roberta 11 10 14 4
Booth, Wendy 7 5 7 2
Brand, John 7 7 6 1
Drinnan, Forrest 11 11 14 2
Macdermid, Linda 11 11 12 1
Martin, Mark 4 3 6 2
Morris, Owen 11 11 12 1
Naqvi, Am 11 10 12 2
Smyth, Keith 11 10 12 1
Stephens, John 7 7 6 1
Other expenses 249

Total $ 117 $ 267

29



Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2022
($ in thousands)

19. Related party transactions (Continued from previous page)

Governance 

& Human 

Resources

Audit & 

Operational 

Risk

Conduct 

Review

Credit & 

Market Risk

Nominating 

& Elections

Member & 

Community 

Relations

Konkin, Mike
Meetings 

attended
7 of 7 n/a n/a 2 of 4 3 of 4 2 of 2

Schnider, Roberta
Meetings 

attended
7 of 7 n/a n/a 15 of 17 3 of 4 4 of 4

Booth, Wendy
Meetings 

attended
n/a n/a n/a 11 of 13 4 of 4 2 of 2

Brand, John
Meetings 

attended
n/a 3 of 3 n/a n/a n/a 2 of 2

Drinnan,��������
Meetings 

attended
7 of 7 6 of 8 n/a 15 of 17 2 of 2 n/a

MacDermid, Linda
Meetings 

attended
7 of 7 n/a 4 of 4 n/a 6 of 6 2 of 2

Martin,�����
Meetings 

attended
n/a 4 of 4 n/a 1 of 3 n/a 1 of 1

Morris, Owen
Meetings 

attended
3 of 3 n/a 4 of 4 n/a 3 of 4 4 of 4

Naqvi, Am
Meetings 

attended
n/a 8 of 8 4 of 4 n/a 6 of 6 n/a

Smyth, Keith
Meetings 

attended
n/a 8 of 8 n/a 17 of 17 6 of 6 n/a

Stephens, John
Meetings 

attended
4 of 4 3 of 6 n/a 12 of 13 n/a n/a

����������������������������

����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
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19. Related party transactions (Continued from previous page)

Director Background

Tenure Profile
Konkin, Mike
Board Chair, May 2022
Governance & Human
Resources Chair

Apr 2010 - Current Mike is a Business Instructor at Selkirk College, as well as the owner of
Mike Konkin, CPA - a tax advisory firm. He is a Chartered Professional
Accountant (CPA, CGA), and has a Master of Business Administration
degree (MBA).

Schnider, Roberta
Board Vice Chair, July
2020
Member & Community
Relations Chair

Apr 2013 - Current Roberta has a diploma in Business Administration and has owned and
operated Full View Curtains for over 20 years.  She has been an active
volunteer in her community and has served on the Board of Education
SD#6, the Columbia Valley Community Foundation Board, the Edgewater
Recreation Society and has participated on many committees throughout
the community and Regional District. This past year Roberta was elected
to Director, Area G of the RDEK. 

Drinnan, Forrest Apr 1997 - Current Retired from West Kootenay Power in 2000, Forrest has been a director
for 27 years. He is a past Peer Group 3 representative on Central 1 Credit
Union Board.  He is also past President of Rotary, Trail Retirees Curling
and Rossland Trail Country Club; as well as past Chair of the LeRoi
Community Foundation, and Trail Regional Hospital Foundation. He is
presently Chair of Kootenay Insurance Services.

MacDermid, Linda
Nominations & Elections
Chair

Apr 2011 - Current Linda has retired as a Commercial and Residential Property Manager
after more than 30 years in the Trail - Okanagan area.  As as director in
the credit union system for over 25 years, she has been actively
promoting credit unions and the communities in the Kootenay area that
they support.     

Naqvi, Am
Audit & Operational Risk
Chair

Apr 2010 - Apr 2019
Jan 2021 - Current

Am has been a Chartered Professional Accountant (FCPA, FCA) for 35
years. He has served as President and Board Chair on the Hospital and
Library boards as well as a Director on the Board of the Columbia Basin
Trust. Am is past chair of BC Chartered Professional Accountants
Institute, Vice President of the Kootenay Coop Store and the Vice Chair of
the Police Boards for BC. Am currently serves as the Chair of the
Community Futures Central Kootenay, Chair of the Nelson and Area
Economic Development and Director of the Rural and Northern
Immigration Pilot Program and President of the Granite Pointe Golf &
Country Club.

Smyth, Keith
Credit & Market Risk
Chair

Apr 2010 - Current Long term community volunteer and school administrator, Keith, a Trail
citizen, has served KSCU Members for 20+ years. Along with continual
learning, in depth experiences and serving on numerous committees
Keith has developed a sound awareness of financial matters relevant to
KSCU. He states that a most satisfying contribution is being involved with
the KSCU Foundation and its long standing beneficial contributions to our
local Kootenay communities.
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19. Related party transactions (Continued from previous page)

Martin, Mark Apr 2016 - Apr 2022 Mark is a Project Management Consultant dealing with municipal
regulation and land development, following a 20-year professional career
with the City of Rossland. Contract implementation, administration, and
follow up are his companies specialty. Mark orchestrated the major
planning process of turning Rossland into a Mountain Resort Community
with boundary expansion and updated legal framework. 
He has been a Credit Union Director for 18 years. Mark has been involved
in many community organizations during the past 40 years from
Emergency Services to local service organizations, keeping with the
community spirit. Mark and his wife MaryEllen have two children, a
daughter in - law and two grandchildren

Morris, Owen
Member & Community
Relations Chair
& Conduct Review Chair

Apr 2019 - Current Owen has been a resident of the Kootenays and a member of KSCU for
over 30 years. He has a Masters Degree in Business Administration and
an undergraduate degree in Theology. As a younger person he flew jets
in the Canadian Armed Forces and was a volunteer fire fighter with the
Robson Fire Hall. He has taught Business, Marketing and Budgeting at
Selkirk College. He enjoys serving his community and working on his
hobby farm.

Stephens, John Apr 2022 - Current John Stephens is a Professional Mechanical engineer who has been a
KSCU member for over 40 years. He has owned and operated an
engineering firm, Kootenay Columbia Ventures Corporation since 2011,
providing specialized engineering services to industries in the Kootenays
and abroad. John is active in his community having spent many years
volunteering with Scouts Canada, Red Mountain Racers, Rossland Co-
operative transportation society, Rossland Fall Fair, Friends of the
Rossland Range and as a snow host at Red Mountain Resort. He has
also been actively involved in various volunteer roles for Engineers and
Geoscientists of BC and was the West Kootenay Branch Chair for several
years. John has completed the Directors Education Program from the
Institute of Corporate Directors, is a current member of that organization
and is Chair of the Board of Columbia Power Corporation.

Booth, Wendy Apr 2022 - Current Wendy has been a part of many boards, in various sectors; the Regional
District of East Kootenay (RDEK) for 10 years, serving as Vice Chair for 6
years. Columbia Basin Trust (CBT), both a director and Vice Chair, Past
President and Executive member of the Union of British Columbia
Municipalities (UBCM), Director of Columbia Basin Broadband
Corporation (CBBC), appointed Public Director of the Fish and Wildlife
Compensation Program (FWCP).  Volunteer board positions include;
Chair of the Columbia Valley Community Foundation (CVCF), Treasurer
of Community Futures East Kootenay (CFEK) and Fraser Basin Council
(FBC). She is a former owner of the white-water rafting company and has
a Bachelor of Business Administration.  She currently works as a
consultant, providing guidance and direction to non-profits and community
development projects. 

Brand, John Apr 2022 - Current John has been a resident of Nelson's North Shore for over 40 years, a
former Branch Manager of Kootenay Savings Credit Union, and has had a
banking career of 45 years. John has served directorships with The
Nelson and District Chamber of Commerce, The Nelson Civic Theatre
and continues to serve as a Nelson Rotarian.
John and partner Ellie have two sons and four grandchildren that reside in
the Kootenays.
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20. Capital management

The Financial Institutions Act requires the Credit Union to maintain, at all times, a capital base which is adequate in relation
to the business carried on.  The level of capital required is based on a prescribed percentage of the total value of risk-
weighted assets, each asset of the Credit Union being assigned a risk factor based on the probability that a loss may be
incurred on the ultimate realization of that asset.  Management considers capital to be comprised of the net assets of the
Credit Union and all components of members' equity on the same risk weighted basis as is prescribed by the Financial
Institutions Act and which amounts to $102,366 as at December 31, 2022 (2021 - $94,029).

The Financial Institutions Act regulations prescribe that the minimum required capital base ratio is 8%.  As at December 31,
2022, the Credit Union has a capital base of 14.65%.

2022 2021
(Restated -

Note 5)

Primary capital
Retained earnings 68,369 64,990
Member shares 14,790 15,884
Dividends to be paid as primary capital 240 312

83,399 81,186

Secondary capital
Share of system retained earnings 13,532 14,024

Deductions from capital (2,386) (4,731)

94,545 90,479

Capital is managed in accordance with policies established by the Board. Management regards a strong capital base as an
integral part of the Credit Union's strategy. The Credit Union has a capital plan to provide a long-term forecast of capital
requirements. All of the elements of capital are monitored throughout the year, and modifications of capital management
strategies are made as appropriate. In addition, the Credit Union develops and works within a 5-Year Capital Plan. The
Credit Union makes periodic dividend payments on eligible member shares, within the context of its overall capital
management plan.

21. Pension plan and other employee benefits 

The Credit Union provides four three types of retirement plan options for its employees. These include participation in a
multi-employer defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”), administered by CUTrust; participation in a defined benefit
Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (the “SERP”), administered by the Credit Union; and participation in a money
purchase plan offered and administered by CUTrust. The annual cost of the pension benefits for the Plan and the SERP
have been determined by an independent actuary based on the accrued benefit actuarial cost method.

The Plan is a contributory, multiemployer, multidivisional registered pension plan governed by a Board of Trustees which is
responsible for overseeing the management of the Plan, including the investment of the assets and administration of the
benefits. The Credit Union is one of several employers participating in the 1.75% Defined Benefit Division of the Plan.
Based on the fourth quarter’s information for 2022, this Division covers about 3,400 active employees, 2,200 inactive
members and approximately 1,500 retired plan members, with reported assets of approximately $1,105,000. At least once
every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the Plan and the adequacy of the
funding levels. The most recent actuarial valuation of the 1.75% Division of the Plan conducted as at December 31, 2021
indicated a going concern surplus of $112,500 and a solvency deficiency of $10,400. Employer contributions to the Plan are
established by the Trustees upon advice from the Plan’s actuaries, including amounts to finance any solvency deficiencies
over time. The next formally scheduled actuarial valuation is for the reporting date of December 31, 2024 .The Credit Union
paid $1,944 in employer contributions to the plan in fiscal year 2022 (2021 - $1,922).
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21. Pension plan and other employee benefits (Continued from previous page)

The Credit Union also provides additional pension benefits to certain eligible employees who are members of a
Supplemental Pension Plan. These non-pension benefits consist of contributions up to certain annual maximum limits
outlined in the plan agreement with respect to medical and dental benefits. Both plans are unfunded defined benefit plans.

Funding of the registered retirement plans complies with applicable regulations that require actuarial valuations of the
pension funds at least once every three years in Canada, depending on the funding status. The most recent actuarial
valuations were as of December 31, 2021 for the Retiree Benefits Plan and the SERP.

2022 2021 2022 2021
Supplemental
pension plan

Supplemental
pension plan

Post
retirement

benefit plan

Post
retirement

benefit plan

Accrued benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, opening 188 198 499 603
Current service costs 12 11 8 13
Interest costs 5 5 14 15
Benefits paid (11) - (23) (22)
Actuarial gains (13) (26) (110) (110)

Accrued benefit obligation, ending 181 188 388 499

Significant assumptions:

2022 2021 2022 2021

Supplemental
pension plan

Supplemental
pension plan

Post
retirement

benefit plan

Post
retirement

benefit plan

Weighted average:
Discount rate %5.00 %2.80 %5.00 %2.80
Rate of compensation increase %2.00 %2.00 %- %-
Inflation %3.00 %2.00 %3.00 %2.00
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22. Derivative financial instruments

Notional
amount 

- fair value

Interest
payable

Risk
weighted

balance

Index-linked options 1,815 - 33

Equity options are transactions in which the Credit Union manages its exposure to changes in the value of index-linked
deposit products. Equity options purchased by the Credit Union, for a premium, provide the right, but not the obligation, to
buy or sell to the writer of the option, an underlying stock index. These options contracts are transacted on an over-the-
counter basis. Two parties exchange cash flows on a specified notional amount for a predetermined period based on the
increase or decrease in an underlying stock market index versus a fixed interest rate. Notional amounts are not exchanged. 

Interest rate swaps are transactions in which two parties exchange interest cash flows on a specified notional amount,
based on agreed upon fixed and floating rates for a specified time period. Notional amounts are the contract amounts used
to calculate the cash flows to be exchanged.

Fair value of the index-linked options and derivatives at December 31, 2022 were $1,815 and $33, respectively (2021 -
$1,574 and $33).

Foreign exchange forward contracts are used as needed to hedge the Credit Union's exposure to foreign exchange risk.

23. Financial instrument risk management

All significant financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments of the Credit Union are either recognized or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements together with other information relevant for making a reasonable
assessment of future cash flows, interest rate risk and credit risk.

Risk management policy

The Credit Union’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyze risks, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The
Credit Union follows an enterprise risk management framework which involves identifying particular events or circumstances
relevant to its objectives, assessing them in terms of probability and magnitude, determining a response strategy and
monitoring progress. The Credit Union regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to take account of
changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.

Risk management is carried out by a number of delegated committees reporting to the Board of Directors. The Board
provides written principles for risk tolerance and overall risk management and management report to the Board on
compliance with the risk management policies of the Credit Union. In addition, the Credit Union maintains an Internal Audit
function which is responsible for independent review of risk management and the Credit Union’s control environment.

Financial instruments comprise the majority of the Credit Union’s assets and liabilities. The Credit Union accepts deposits
from members at both fixed and floating rates for various periods and seeks to earn an interest rate margin by investing
these funds in high quality financial instruments – principally mortgages. The primary types of financial risk which arise from
this activity are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, price risk and foreign exchange risk.
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23. Financial instrument risk management  (Continued from previous page)

The following table describes the significant financial instrument activity undertaken by the Credit Union, the risks
associated with such activities and the types of methods used in managing those risks.

Activity Risk Method

Fixed rate savings products and funding
activities involving fixed rate instruments

Sensitivity to changes in interest rates Sensitivity Analysis and stress-testing

Fixed rate mortgages Sensitivity to changes in interest rates Sensitivity Analysis and stress-testing

Equity linked deposit products Sensitivity to changes in Canadian equity
indices

Options

Foreign currencies Sensitivity to changes in foreign currency Minimize overall Credit Union exposure

Investment of liquid resources in fixed
income securities

Sensitivity to changes in obligor credit
risk leading to default

Monitoring of investment restrictions and
counterparty risk

The main financial risks inherent in the Credit Union environment are credit, liquidity and interest rate risks.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is not considered significant at this time as the Credit Union does not engage in any active trading of
foreign currency positions or hold significant excess foreign currency denominated financed investments for an extended
period. Based on current differences between foreign currency financial assets and financial liabilities as at year-end, the
Credit Union estimates that a positive/adverse change in the US – Canadian foreign currency exchange rate of 1% would
result in a change in the post tax income of $-131 (2021 - $6) principally as a result of the retranslation of foreign currency
denominated cash resources.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a Credit Union member or counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due. Impairment
provisions are provided for losses that have been incurred at the consolidated statement of financial position date.
Significant changes in the economy of British Columbia and the Kootenay region of BC or deteriorations in lending sectors
which represent a concentration within the Credit Union's loan portfolio may result in losses that are different from those
provided for at year end.

Overall monitoring and processes will change as deemed necessary in response to the ongoing economic impact of
COVID-19, the rapid changes in interest rates and high inflation environment. This has and will include changes to the
current processes to ensure that the overall portfolio is secured and the Credit Union will continue to support members and
find their optimal credit solutions. The stages of expected credit loss within the loan portfolio, if affected by these items, will
be adjusted as necessary as we progress through the pandemic and resulting economic impacts.

Risk management process

Credit risk management is integral to the Credit Union’s activities. Management carefully monitors and manages the Credit
Union's exposure to credit risk by a combination of methods. Credit risk arises principally as a result of the Credit Union's
lending activities that result in member loans and advances and treasury activities that result in investments in cash
resources. There is also credit risk in unfunded loan commitments. The overall management of credit risk is centralized in
the Credit Market Risk Committee which reports to the Board of Directors and the respective operating units of the Credit
Union.
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23. Financial instrument risk management  (Continued from previous page)

Concentration of loans is managed by the implementation of sectoral and member specific limits as well as the periodic use
of syndications with other financial institutions to limit the potential exposure from any one member. The Credit Market Risk
Committee is responsible for approving and monitoring the Credit Union's tolerance for credit exposures which it does
through review and approval of the Credit Union's lending policies and credit scoring system and through setting limits on
credit exposures from individual members across sectors. The Credit Union maintains levels of borrowing approval limits
and, prior to advancing funds to a member, an assessment of the credit quality of that member is made. The Credit Union
emphasizes responsible lending in its relationships with members and establishes loans that are within the member's ability
to repay, rather than relying exclusively on collateral.

Loans to members

Loans to members consist of $1,213,013 (2021 - $1,145,473) residential and commercial loans/mortgages which are
secured against real property with a further $16,725 (2021 - $13,959) secured by other collateral. Loans to members also
include $12,943 (2021 - $12,505) of unsecured loans/lines of credit which consists of personal and commercial loans and
lines of credit.

The Credit Union often takes security as collateral in common with other lending institutions. The Credit Union maintains
guidelines on the acceptability of specific types of collateral. Collateral may include mortgages over residential properties
and charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable. Where significant impairment
indicators are identified, the Credit Union takes additional measures to manage the risk of default, which may include
seeking additional collateral.

The credit quality of the loan portfolio for those loans which are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference
to the Credit Union's internal rating system. The Credit Union assesses the probability of default using internal rating tools
and takes into account both statistical analysis as well as the experience and judgment of the Credit department. Retail
member loans are assessed based on a comparison of the loan to value ratio of the loan principal compared to the
estimated fair value of collateral. Commercial member loans are divided into five segments and are regularly reviewed and
updated as appropriate. Commercial member loans in the lower classes are not considered to be impaired taking into
account the repayment status of the loans and estimated fair value of collateral, except where indicated as impaired.

The Credit Union’s credit risk policies, processes and methodologies are reviewed periodically to ensure they remain
relevant and effective in managing credit risk.

To meet the needs of its members and to manage its own exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, the Credit Union
participates in various commitments and contingent liability contracts. The primary purpose of these contracts is to make
funds available for the financing needs of customers. These are subject to normal credit standards, financial controls, risk
management and monitoring procedures.

The Credit Union makes the following instruments available to its members:

 Guarantees and standby letters of credit representing irrevocable assurances that the Credit Union will pay if a

member cannot meet their obligations to a third party

 Commitments to extend credit representing unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans

(including lines of credit and credit cards), guarantees or letters of credit.

The amounts shown on the table below do not necessarily represent future cash requirements since many commitments will
expire or terminate without being funded. In addition, the off-balance sheet loans granted through Canada Emergency
Business Account are funded and guaranteed by the Government of Canada. As at year-end, the Credit Union had the
following outstanding financial instruments subject to credit risk:

2022 2021

Unadvanced lines of credit 143,573 137,458
Commitments to extend credit 58,908 57,836
Off-balance sheet loans granted through Canada Emergency Business Account 18,927 20,800

221,408 216,094
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Inputs, assumptions and techniques

Definition of default and assessments of credit risk

Financial instruments are assessed at each reporting date for a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
This assessment considers changes in the risk of a default occurring at the reporting date as compared to the date of initial
recognition. 

The Credit Union considers loans and advances to be in default when contractual payments are more than 90 days past
due or other objective evidence of impairment exists, such as notification from the borrower or breach of major covenants.
This definition is consistent with the definitions used for the Credit Union’s internal credit risk management practices and
has been selected because it most closely aligns the definition of default to the Credit Union’s past credit experience, and
the covenants placed in standard borrowing contracts. Relatively few financial instruments subsequently return to
performing status after a default has occurred under this definition without further intervention on the part of the Credit
Union.

Changes in credit risk are assessed on the basis of the risk that a default will occur over the contractual lifetime of the
financial instrument rather than based on changes in the amount of expected credit losses or other factors. In making this
assessment the Credit Union takes into account all reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking
information, available without undue cost or effort. The Credit Union considers past due information of its balances and
information about the borrower available through regular commercial dealings, such as requests for loan modifications. 

The credit risk of a financial instrument is deemed to have significantly increased since initial recognition when contractual
payments have exceeded 30 days past due, or other information becomes available to management (through the course of
regular credit reviews, communication with the borrower or forecasting processes which consider macroeconomic
conditions expected to have a future impact on borrowers).

When the contractual terms of a financial asset have been modified or renegotiated and the financial asset has not been
derecognized, the Credit Union assesses for significant increases in credit risk by considering the ability to collect interest
and principal payments on the modified financial asset, the reason for the modifications, and the borrower’s payment
performance compared to the modified contractual terms and whether such modifications increase the borrower’s ability to
meet its contractual obligations.

Where the contractual cash flows of a financial asset have been modified while the loss allowance of that asset is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, the Credit Union determines whether the credit risk of that financial
asset has improved to the extent that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an amount equal to 12-month
expected credit losses. The Credit Union makes this determination by evaluating the credit risk of the modified financial
asset and comparing with documentation of the borrower’s initial credit assessment at the time of the initial borrowing. The
Credit Union considers the credit risk to have decreased when the borrower has demonstrated consistently good payment
behaviour for 2 – 3 months against the modified contractual terms. Subsequently, management monitors these assets by
tracking payment behaviours and relapse rates to determine the extent to which expected credit losses revert to being
measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

The Credit Union identifies credit-impaired financial assets through regular reviews of past due balances and credit
assessments of its customers. Credit-impaired financial assets are typically placed on the Credit Union's watch list based on
its internal credit risk policies. In making this assessment, the Credit Union considers past due information of its balances
and information about the borrower available through regular commercial dealings.

Measurement of expected credit losses

The Credit Union measures expected credit losses for member loans receivable on a group basis. These assets are
grouped on the basis of their shared risk characteristics such as loan type (residential mortgages, commercial mortgages,
other secured loans or non-secured loans). Otherwise, expected credit losses are measured on an individual basis.
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When measuring 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, the Credit Union considers items such as the contractual
period of the financial asset or the period for which the entity is exposed to credit risk, determination of appropriate discount
rates used in incorporating the time value of money, assumptions about prepayments, timing and extent of missed
payments or default events, how probabilities of default and other assumptions and inputs used in calculating the amount of
cash short falls depending on the type or class of financial instrument. Forward-looking information is incorporated into the
determination of expected credit loss by collecting information available from regular commercial dealings with its
customers and other publicly available information and considering the effect such information could have on any
assumptions or inputs used in the measurement of expected credit losses, determining significant increases in credit risk or
identifying a credit-impaired financial asset. 

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial
assets. In measuring the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, management makes assumptions about
prepayments, the timing and extent of missed payments or default events. In addition, management makes assumptions
and estimates about the impact that future events may have on the historical data used to measure expected credit losses. 

Write-offs

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The Credit Union assesses that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery when the security relating to the loan has been sold and there are remaining
amounts outstanding, the borrower has filed for bankruptcy and the trustee has indicated that no additional funds will be
paid, or when other factors indicate there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Where an asset has been written off but
is still subject to enforcement activity, the asset is written off but remains on a list of delinquent accounts. Where information
becomes available indicating the Credit Union will receive funds, such amounts are recognized at their fair value.

Significant increase in credit risk - COVID-19, interest rate and inflationary environment impact

There are judgments involved in determining whether or not there is a significant increase in credit risk resulting in loans
moving between stages of expected credit loss and being subject to different expected credit loss models. The Credit Union
will continue to monitor the impact that COVID-19, increased interest rates and inflation may have on its members and their
ability to repay their debt obligations. Where appropriate, the Credit Union may deem a change in credit risk to have
occurred for certain members due to the current environment and will adjust their staging and expected credit losses as
necessary.

Exposure to credit risk

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets assessed for impairment under IFRS 9
Financial instruments. The amounts in the table, unless otherwise indicated, represent the assets’ gross carrying amount.
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2022

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit

impaired) Total

Retail mortgages
Low risk 641,886 - - 641,886
Medium risk - 250,175 - 250,175
Default - - 357 357

Total gross carrying amount 641,886 250,175 357 892,418
Less: loss allowance 91 263 45 399

Total carrying amount 641,795 249,912 312 892,019

Commercial mortgages
Low risk 225,161 - - 225,161
Medium risk - 41,207 - 41,207
Default - - - -

Total gross carrying amount 225,161 41,207 - 266,368
Less: loss allowance 88 102 - 190

Total carrying amount 225,073 41,105 - 266,178

Retail loans and lines of credit
Low risk 48,767 - - 48,767
Medium risk - 20,424 - 20,424
Default - - 20 20

Total gross carrying amount 48,767 20,424 20 69,211
Less: loss allowance 16 36 20 72

Total carrying amount 48,751 20,388 - 69,139

Commercial loans and lines of credit
Low risk 5,680 - - 5,680
Medium risk - 1,263 - 1,263
Default - - 366 366

Total gross carrying amount 5,680 1,263 366 7,309
Less: loss allowance 264 - 153 417

Total carrying amount 5,416 1,263 213 6,892

Total members' loans receivable
Total gross carrying amount 921,494 313,069 743 1,235,306
Less: loss allowance 459 401 218 1,078

Total carrying amount 921,035 312,668 525 1,234,228
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2021

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit

impaired) Total

Retail mortgages
Low risk 571,863 - - 571,863
Medium risk - 225,168 - 225,168
Default - - 442 442

Total gross carrying amount 571,863 225,168 442 797,473
Less: loss allowance 120 268 34 422

Total carrying amount 571,743 224,900 408 797,051

Commercial mortgages
Low risk 225,906 - - 225,906
Medium risk - 46,407 - 46,407
Default - - - -

Total gross carrying amount 225,906 46,407 - 272,313
Less: loss allowance 214 117 - 331

Total carrying amount 225,692 46,290 - 271,982

Retail loans and lines of credit
Low risk 50,446 - - 50,446
Medium risk - 17,955 - 17,955
Default - - 42 42

Total gross carrying amount 50,446 17,955 42 68,443
Less: loss allowance 26 30 35 91

Total carrying amount 50,420 17,925 7 68,352

Commercial loans and lines of credit
Low risk 4,134 - - 4,134
Medium risk - 1,315 - 1,315
Default - - 341 341

Total gross carrying amount 4,134 1,315 341 5,790
Less: loss allowance 1 1 134 136

Total carrying amount 4,133 1,314 207 5,654

Total members' loans receivable
Total gross carrying amount 852,349 290,845 825 1,144,019
Less: loss allowance 361 416 203 980

Total carrying amount 851,988 290,429 622 1,143,039
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As at December 31, 2022, the maximum exposure to credit risk with respect to financial assets without taking into
account collateral held or other credit enhancements is $1,465,382 (2021 - $1,569,469). The principal collateral and
other credit enhancement held by the Credit Union as security for loans include i) insurance, ii) mortgages over
residential lots and properties, iii) recourse to the business assets such as real estate, equipment, inventory and
accounts receivable, iv) recourse to the commercial real estate properties being financed, and v) recourse to liquid
assets, guarantees and securities. 

Included in the Credit Union's maximum exposure to credit risk noted above is $1,867 (2021 - $2,178) for the maximum
exposure loss in its interest in Kootenay Insurance Services Ltd. This is the total adjusted cost base of the investment in
associate, which approximates the Credit Union's maximum credit risk exposure. 

Amounts arising from expected credit losses

Reconciliation of the loss allowance

The following tables show a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of financial
instrument.

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit

impaired) Total

Member loans receivable
Balance at December 31, 2020 11 1,189 484 1,684
Provision for (recovery of) impaired loans 284 (697) (251) (664)
Write-offs, net of recoveries 66 (76) (30) (40)

Balance at December 31, 2021 361 416 203 980
Provision for (recovery of) impaired loans 113 5 (131) (13)
Write-offs, net of recoveries (15) (20) 146 111

Balance at December 31, 2022 459 401 218 1,078

Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of the Credit Union’s financial instruments will fluctuate due
to changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in prevailing market interest rates. Interest margins reported in the profit or loss may increase
or decrease in response to changes in market interest rates.

In managing interest rate risk, the Credit Union relies primarily upon use of asset - liability and interest rate sensitivity
simulation models, which is monitored by the Credit Union's Treasury department and reported to the Asset and Liabilities
Committee ("ALCO") which is responsible for managing interest rate risk. Periodically, the Credit Union may enter into
interest rate swaps to adjust the exposure to interest rate risk by modifying the re-pricing of the Credit Union's financial
instruments.

Sensitivity analysis is used to assess the change in value of the Credit Union's financial instruments against a range of
incremental basis point changes in interest rates over a twelve month period. Interest rate shock analysis is calculated in a
similar manner to sensitivity analysis but involves a more significant change of 100 basis points or greater in interest rates.
Sensitivity analysis and interest rate shock analysis are calculated on a monthly basis and are reported to the ALCO
committee. Based on current differences between financial assets and financial liabilities as at year-end, the Credit Union
estimates that an immediate and sustained 100 basis point increase in interest rates would increase net interest income by
$528 (2021 - $1,796) over the next 12 months while an immediate and sustained 100 basis point decrease in interest rates
would decrease net interest income by $648 (2021 - $878) over the next 12 months. 

Other types of interest rate risk are basis risk (the risk of loss arising from changes in the relationship of interest rates which
have similar but not identical characteristic; for example, the difference between prime rates and the Canadian Deposit
Offering Rate) and prepayment risk (the risk of loss of interest income arising from the early repayment of fixed rate
mortgages and loans), both of which are monitored on a regular basis and are reported to ALCO.
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Interest rate sensitivity

Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the Credit Union's financial condition to movements in interest rates. The carrying amounts of financial instruments are presented in
the periods in which they next re-price to market rates or mature and are summed to show the net interest rate sensitivity gap.

2022 2021

Variable rate Within one year
One to two

years
Two to three

years
Three to four

years Over four years
Non-Interest

Sensitive Total Total

Financial assets
Cash and
investments 59,444 90,652 23,007 19,341 12,673 5,427 5,358 215,902 276,121
Member loans 147,315 225,132 143,086 169,395 261,264 287,969 67 1,234,228 1,143,039
Other - - - - - - 4,063 4,063 3,164

Total weighted
average interest
rate % 6.31 3.07 3.18 2.95 2.41 3.48 - 3.39 2.58

206,759 315,784 166,093 188,736 273,937 293,396 9,488 1,454,193 1,422,324

Financial liabilities
Demand deposits 801,870 - - - - - - 801,870 821,756
Term deposits - 237,279 46,556 59,906 1,605 17,618 - 362,964 318,674
Registered plans 33,705 98,759 27,478 52,163 1,642 11,379 - 225,126 215,131
Member shares - - - - - - 2,791 2,791 3,003
Borrowings - 12,151 - - - - - 12,151 14,262
Other - - - - - - 16,073 16,073 13,416

Total weighted
average interest
rate % 0.77 2.48 2.27 3.36 1.91 3.74 - 1.45 0.65

835,575 348,189 74,034 112,069 3,247 28,997 18,864 1,420,975 1,386,242

On balance sheet
mismatch (628,816) (32,405) 92,059 76,667 270,690 264,399 (9,376) 33,218 36,082
Derivatives notional
amount - - - - - - - - -

Net sensitivity (628,816) (32,405) 92,059 76,667 270,690 264,399 (9,376) 33,218 36,082
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet its obligations to members and
other liabilities. To mitigate this risk, the Credit Union is required to maintain, in the form of cash and term deposits, a
minimum of 8% liquidity at all times, based on total members’ deposits and non equity shares. At year-end, the Credit
Union’s liquidity exceeded the required level.

The level of restricted cash resources required is based on total deposits and other debt liabilities. Included in other
investments are restricted resources of $121,630 (2021 – included in cash resources are restricted resources of $109,870).
The Credit Union’s own risk management policies require it to maintain sufficient liquid resources to cover cash flow
imbalances, to retain member confidence in the Credit Union and to enable the Credit Union to meet all financial
obligations. This is achieved through maintaining a prudent level of liquid assets, through management control of the growth
of the loan portfolio, securitizations and asset liability maturity management techniques. Management monitors rolling
forecasts of the Credit Union’s liquidity requirements on the basis of expected cash flows as part of its liquidity
management. The Credit Union's Board of Directors has set an overall borrowing limit of $100,000 (2021 - $100,000) as an
integral part of its liquidity management strategy.

24. Fair value measurements 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

The Credit Union’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position on a
recurring basis have been categorized into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

2022
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets
Cash 12,981 12,981 - -
Shares, Central 1 427 - - 427
Central 1 mandatory liquidity pool deposits 120,951 120,951 - -
Other equity investments 8,685 - - 8,685
Other investments 4,105 - 4,105 -

Total assets 147,149 133,932 4,105 9,112

Liabilities
Index-linked deposits 1,815 - 1,815 -
Interest Rate swaps 33 - 33 -

Total liabilities 1,848 - 1,848 -
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2021
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets
Cash 53,255 53,255 - -
Shares in Central 1 417 - - 417
Central 1 mandatory liquity pool deposits 109,375 109,375 - -
Other equity investments 8,031 - - 8,031
Other investments 4,729 - 4,729 -

Total assets 175,807 162,630 4,729 8,448

Liabilities
Index-linked deposits 1,574 - 1,574 -
Derivatives 33 - 33 -

Total 1,607 - 1,607 -

Level 2 fair value measurements

Valuation techniques and inputs for recurring Level 2 fair value measurements are as follows: 

Line item Valuation technique(s) Inputs

Other investments

Fair value is determined using
the net present value of cash
flows attributable to the
investments.

Discount rates based on credit
spread adjusted swap rates.

Index-linked deposits

Fair value is determined using
the net present value of cash
flows attributable to the
investments.

Discount rates based on
current investment rates.

Derivatives

Fair value is determined using
the net present value of cash
flows attributable to the
derivative financial
asset/liability

Discount rates based on
CDOR and swap rates.
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Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The carrying amount, fair value, and categorization into the fair value hierarchy of all other financial assets and financial
liabilities held by the Credit Union and not measured at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position are as
follows: 

2022
Carrying
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets
Interest-bearing deposits 68,753 69,128 - 69,128 -
Member loans receivable 1,234,228 1,193,679 - 1,193,679 -
Other assets 4,063 4,063 - 4,063 -

Total assets 1,307,044 1,266,870 - 1,266,870 -

Liabilities
Member deposits 1,389,960 1,377,124 - 1,377,124 -
Borrowings 12,151 12,180 - 12,180 -
Other liabilities 16,073 16,073 - 16,073 -
Member shares - liability 2,791 2,791 - - 2,791

Total liabilities 1,420,975 1,408,168 - 1,405,377 2,791

2021
Carrying
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets
Interest-bearing deposits 95,309 95,741 - 95,741 -
Investment in Central 1 bonds 5,005 4,995 4,995 - -
Member loans receivable 1,143,039 1,142,291 - 1,142,291 -
Other assets 3,164 3,164 - 3,164 -

Total assets 1,246,517 1,246,191 4,995 1,241,196 -

Liabilities
Member deposits 1,355,561 1,377,611 - 1,377,611 -
Borrowings 14,262 14,679 - 14,679 -
Other liabilities 13,416 13,416 - 13,416 -
Member shares - liability 3,003 3,003 - - 3,003

Total liabilities 1,386,242 1,408,709 - 1,405,706 3,003

Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements for financial instruments not measured at fair value

Valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

All Level 2 fair value measurements use a net present value valuation technique and inputs consisting of actual balances,
actual rates, market rates (for similar instruments) and payment frequency.

As there is no observable market data for all fair values disclosed and categorized within Level 3 of the hierarchy, the Credit
Union has assumed that the fair value of the amounts is comparable to the amortized cost.
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25. Letters of credit and contingencies

Letters of credit

As of December 31, 2022, the Credit Union had issued letters of credit on behalf of members in the amount of $1,273 (2021
- $1,222). Of these letters of credit, $1,273 (2021 - $1,222) are secured by securities and/or monies on deposit; the
remainder by indemnities or personal guarantees.

Contingencies

From time to time, various claims and legal proceedings may arise against the Credit Union. The Credit Union vigorously
defends itself where appropriate and in instances where it considers it more likely than not to prevail, no provision is
recorded in the consolidated financial statements. 
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